
CITY COUNCIL
Regular Meeting – Agenda 

June 20, 2023 at 4:00 PM

Pooler City Hall 
100 US Hwy 80 SW, 

Pooler, GA 31322 
www.pooler-ga.gov 

1 of 2 

I. ROLL CALL/DECLARATION OF QUORUM

II. CALL TO ORDER

III. INVOCATION

IV. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

V. ANNOUNCEMENTS

VI. CONSENT AGENDA
A. City Council Meeting Minutes of June 5, 2023

B. City Council Executive Session Minutes of June 5, 2023

C. Special Event Permit Application for Raymond Eric Powers on July 14,
2023

D. Special Event Permit Application for Sara Alread and Patrick Mignano from 
July 14-24, 2023

E. Special Event Permit Application for Southeast Spas from August 18-20,
2023

F. Department Reports

1. Public Works

2. Finance

3. Fire-Rescue

4. Police

5. Recreation

6. Planning & Zoning

VII. ORDINANCES, PROCLAMATIONS, RESOLUTIONS
A. Ordinance O2023-05.D - Amendment to The City of Pooler Code of

Ordinances Chapter 82- Traffic and Vehicles, Article II - Stopping,
Standing and Parking to Add Language Related to Parking of Commercial
Vehicles (Second Reading)

Page 1 of 294



2 of 2 

B. Ordinance O2023-05.E - Amendment to The City of Pooler Code of
Ordinances Appendix A - Zoning, Article V- Procedures for Administration
and Enforcement, Section 5 Public Notice and Chapter 62 - Planning,
Article II - Planning and Zoning Commission - Section 62-34; To Amend
Language Related to Public Notice Requirements and Public Hearing
Procedures (Second Reading)

VIII. OLD BUSINESS
A. Major Subdivision for The Farm at Morgan Lakes (Reapproval)

IX. NEW BUSINESS
A. Site Plan for Barrow Drive Trailer Parking Extension

B. Site Plan for Tract W - Harmony Amenity Site

C. Site Plan for 2101 Travis Field Road Truck Yard Improvements (Dean 
Forest Road)

D. Site Plan for Towne Place Pooler Hotel

E. Acceptance of Maintenance Bond, Sidewalk Performance Bond, and Final 
Plat for Ellis Park, Phase 4

F. Acceptance of Maintenance Bond, Sidewalk Performance Bond, and Final  
Plat for Telfair Park, Phase 2

G. Release of Warranty Bond for Westbrook Villas, Phase 3A

H. Release of Performance Bond, Acceptance of Maintenance and Sidewalk 
Performance Bonds for Westbrook, Area K1

I. Release of Performance Bond, Acceptance of Maintenance and Sidewalk 
Performance Bonds for Westbrook, Area K2

J. Release of Performance Bond, Acceptance of Maintenance and Sidewalk 
Performance Bonds for Westbrook, Area K3

K. Adoption of the Proposed 2023 Millage Rate

L. 2023 City Council Meeting Schedule Amendment

M. Location Agreement with Kiki Tree Pictures, Inc

N. Amendment Number 2 to the 2017 Inmate Labor Agreement Between the 
Board of Commissioners of Effingham County and the City of Pooler

X. EXECUTIVE SESSION

XI. ADJOURNMENT

Page 2 of 294



CITY COUNCIL

Regular Meeting – Minutes 

June 5, 2023 at 4:00 PM

 Pooler City Hall 
100 US Hwy 80 SW, Pooler, 

GA 31322 
www.pooler-ga.gov 

1 of 7 

I. ROLL CALL/DECLARATION OF QUORUM
Present: Rebecca C. Benton, Mayor 

Tom Hutcherson, Mayor Pro Tem 
Aaron Higgins, Councilmember 
Stevie Wall, Councilmember 
John Wilcher, Councilmember 
Karen Williams, Councilmember  
Robert Byrd, City Manager   
Craig Call, City Attorney    
Chris Lightle, Finance Officer   
Kiley Fusco, Clerk of Council    

Absent: Shannon Black, Councilmember 

II. CALL TO ORDER
Mayor Rebecca Benton called the meeting to order at 4:00 p.m.

III. INVOCATION
Dr. Shirlinia Daniel gave the invocation.

IV. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
Dr. Shirlinia Daniel led the pledge.

V. ANNOUNCEMENTS
There were no announcements.

VI. CONSENT AGENDA

A. City Council Meeting Minutes of May 15, 2023

B. Special Event Permit Application for Trisha Cook & Kelly Senn for 
July 30, 2023

City Manager Robert Byrd presented the consent agenda for 
consideration. Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to approve the 
consent agenda.

Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS)

Page 3 of 294



2 of 7 

MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Wilcher 
AYES: Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams 
NAYS:  

VII. ORDINANCES, PROCLAMATIONS, RESOLUTIONS

A. Ordinance O2023-05.A - To Amend Appendix A - Zoning, Article IV
-Zoning Districts, Section 18 - C-1, Light Commercial District to
Clarify Language Related to Allowable Acreage, and Article III -
General Provisions, Section 2, Access to Public Street Required to
Clarify Requirements Related to Access and Chapter 74 - Streets,
Sidewalks, and Other Public Places, Art. V - Engineering Policy to
Provide Provisions for Perpetual Maintenance of Developed Sites
(Second Reading; Action)
City Manager Robert Byrd presented the second reading for consideration.
Councilmember Johh Wilcher moved to approve the second reading of
Ordinance O2023-05.A - To Amend Appendix A - Zoning, Article IV -
Zoning Districts, Section 18 - C-1, Light Commercial District to Clarify
Language Related to Allowable Acreage, and Article III - General
Provisions, Section 2, Access to Public Street Required to Clarify
Requirements Related to Access and Chapter 74 - Streets, Sidewalks, and
Other Public Places, Art. V - Engineering Policy to Provide Provisions for
Perpetual Maintenance of Developed Sites.

Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS)
MOVER: Wilcher
SECONDER: Williams
AYES: Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams
NAYS:

B. Ordinance O2023-05.B - Amendment to The City of Pooler Code of
Ordinances Appendix A - Zoning, Article III - General Provisions,
to Clarify Language Related to the Display of Goods in Parking or
Loading Areas and Provide for Provisions Related to Outdoor
Storage and Display and Sale of Merchandise; To Address Non-
Conformities and Need for Compliance (First Reading; Public
Hearing, Action)
City Manager Robert Byrd presented the first reading for consideration.
Mayor Rebecca Benton opened and closed the public hearing without
comment. City Planner Brian Crooks was present to answer questions.
Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to postpone the first reading of
Ordinance O2023-05.B - Amendment to The City of Pooler Code of
Ordinances Appendix A - Zoning, Article III - General Provisions, to Clarify
Language Related to the Display of Goods in Parking or Loading Areas and
Provide for Provisions Related to Outdoor Storage and Display and Sale of
Merchandise; To Address Non-Conformities and Need for Compliance until
such time that City staff is able to consult with the City Attorney on the
item.

Page 4 of 294



3 of 7 

Motion to Postpone; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Williams 
AYES: Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams 
NAYS:  

C. Ordinance O2023-05.C - Amendment to The City of Pooler Code of 
Ordinances Appendix A - Zoning, Article II - Definitions and 
Article III -General Provisions by Adding Section 32 - Horizontal 
Mixed-Use Development and Amending Table 4.1 - Allowed Uses 
by Zoning District (First Reading; Public Hearing, Action)
City Manager Robert Byrd presented the first reading for consideration. 
Mayor Rebecca Benton opened and closed the public hearing without 
comment. City Planner Brian Crooks was present to answer questions. 
Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to postpone the first reading of 
Ordinance O2023-05.C - Amendment to The City of Pooler Code of 
Ordinances Appendix A - Zoning, Article II - Definitions and Article III -
General Provisions by Adding Section 32 - Horizontal Mixed-Use 
Development and Amending Table 4.1 - Allowed Uses by Zoning District. 

Motion to Postpone; PASSED (UNANIMOUS)
MOVER: Higgins
SECONDER: Hutcherson
AYES: Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams
NAYS:

D. Ordinance O2023-05.D - Amendment to The City of Pooler Code of 
Ordinances Chapter 82- Traffic and Vehicles, Article II - Stopping, 
Standing and Parking to Add Language Related to Parking of 
Commercial Vehicles (First Reading; Public Hearing, Action)
City Manager Robert Byrd presented the first reading for consideration. 
Mayor Rebecca Benton opened and closed the public hearing without 
comment. City Planner Brian Crooks was present to answer questions. 
Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to approve the first reading of 
Ordinance O2023-05.D - Amendment to The City of Pooler Code of 
Ordinances Chapter 82- Traffic and Vehicles, Article II - Stopping, 
Standing and Parking to Add Language Related to Parking of Commercial 
Vehicles.

Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS)
MOVER: Higgins
SECONDER: Wilcher
AYES: Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams
NAYS:

E. Ordinance O2023-05.E - Amendment to The City of Pooler Code of 
Ordinances Appendix A - Zoning, Article V- Procedures for 
Administration and Enforcement, Section 5 Public Notice and 
Chapter 62 - Planning, Article II - Planning and Zoning 
Commission - Section 62-34; To Amend

Page 5 of 294



4 of 7 

Language Related to Public Notice Requirements and Public 
Hearing Procedures (First Reading; Public Hearing, Action) 
City Manager Robert Byrd presented the first reading for consideration. 
Mayor Rebecca Benton opened and closed the public hearing without 
comment. City Planner Brian Crooks was present to answer questions. 
Councilmember John Wilcher moved to approve the first reading of 
Ordinance O2023-05.E - Amendment to The City of Pooler Code of 
Ordinances Appendix A - Zoning, Article V- Procedures for Administration 
and Enforcement, Section 5 Public Notice and Chapter 62 - Planning, 
Article II - Planning and Zoning Commission - Section 62-34; To Amend 
Language Related to Public Notice Requirements and Public Hearing 
Procedures. 

Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Wilcher 
SECONDER: Higgins 
AYES: Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams 
NAYS:  

F. Proclamation for Juneteenth 2023
Mayor Rebecca Benton read aloud the Councilmember None moved to the 
Proclamation for Juneteenth 2023 and announced the upcoming 
Juneteenth Run on June 10 and Juneteenth Celebration on June 17. Mayor 
Pro Tem Tom Hutcherson introduced those present serving on committees 
for the events: Herbert Singleton, Phyllis Bell, and John Hayden.

G. Resolution 2023-06.A - Budget Amendment 2023-01
City Manager Robert Byrd presented the resolution for consideration. 
Finance Officer Chris Lightle reviewed the item. Councilmember Stevie 
Wall moved to approve Resolution 2023-06.A - Budget Amendment 
2023-01.

Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS)
MOVER: Wall
SECONDER: Williams
AYES: Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams
NAYS:

VIII.  OLD BUSINESS

A. Zoning Map Amendment for 1703 Old Dean Forest Road from 
MH-3 to I-1 (PIN 5-0988-04-006)
City Manager Robert Byrd presented the amendment for consideration. 
Attorney Robert McCorkle was present on behalf of the petitioner. 
Resident Timothy Creech spoke in opposition to the rezoning. 
Councilmember John Wilcher moved to approve the Zoning Map 
Amendment for 1703 Old Dean Forest Road from MH-3 to I-1 (PIN 5-

Page 6 of 294



5 of 7 

0988-04-006). 

Motion to Approve; PASSED (4-1) 
MOVER: Wilcher 
SECONDER: Hutcherson 
AYES: Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams 
NAYS: Higgins 

IX.  NEW BUSINESS

A. Building Height Variance for Stonecutter Pooler Multifamily 
Owner, LLC
(Public Hearing, Action)
City Manager Robert Byrd presented the request for consideration. Mayor 
Rebecca Benton opened the public hearing. Brian Clouser of Kimley-Horn 
was present on behalf of the petitioner to answer questions. Residents Jim 
McQueen, Kim O'Connell, and Angela Wood expressed their concerns 
regarding noise, parking, traffic, and aesthetics. Resident Richard Sturgis 
inquired about the maximum number of units the developer would be 
building. Mayor Rebecca Benton closed the public hearing, and 
Councilmember John Wilcher moved to approve the Building Height 
Variance for Stonecutter Pooler Multifamily Owner, LLC.

Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS)
MOVER: Wilcher
SECONDER: Higgins
AYES: Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams
NAYS:

B. Release of Performance Bond/Acceptance of Maintenance Bond 
for Harmony Townhomes
City Manager Robert Byrd presented the bonds for consideration. 
Councilmember John Wilcher moved to approve Release of the 
Performance Bond in the amount of $2,271,716.25 and Acceptance of the 
Maintenance Bond in the amount of $241,049.50 and Sidewalk 
Performance Bond in the amount of $77,127.00 for Harmony Townhomes, 
subject to City Attorney approval.

Motion to Approve with Stipulations; PASSED (UNANIMOUS)
MOVER: Wilcher
SECONDER: Hutcherson
AYES: Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams
NAYS:

C. Acceptance of Subdivision Performance Bond/Final Plat for 
Harmony, Phase 7
City Manager Robert Byrd presented the bonds and plat for consideration. 
Councilmember John Wilcher moved to approve Acceptance of the 
Subdivision Performance Bond in the amount of $2,159,783.90 in

Page 7 of 294



6 of 7 

addition to the Final Plat for Harmony, Phase 7, subject to City Attorney 
approval. 

Motion to Approve with Stipulations; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Wilcher 
SECONDER: Higgins 
AYES: Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams 
NAYS:  

D. Acceptance of Subdivision Performance Bond/Final Plat for Forest
Lakes, Phase 10
City Manager Robert Byrd presented the bonds and plat for consideration.
Councilmember Karen Williams moved to approve  Acceptance of the
Warranty Bond in the amount of $209,255.75, the Sidewalk Performance
Bond in the amount of $56,438.00, and the final plat Final Plat for Forest
Lakes, Phase 10, subject to City Attorney approval.

Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS)
MOVER: Williams
SECONDER: Higgins
AYES: Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams
NAYS:

E. Renewal of Annual Contract for Debris Monitoring Services and
Consumer Price Index Escalation
City Manager Robert Byrd presented the contract for consideration.
Councilmember Stevie Wall moved to approve Renewal of Annual Contract
for Debris Monitoring Services and Consumer Price Index Escalation,
subject to City Attorney approval.

Motion to Approve with Stipulations; PASSED (UNANIMOUS)
MOVER: Wall
SECONDER: Wilcher
AYES: Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams
NAYS:

X. EXECUTIVE SESSION

With no further public business to conduct, Councilmember John Wilcher moved
to enter Executive Session. Council entered Executive Session at 5:30 p.m.

Motion to Enter; PASSED (UNANIMOUS)
MOVER: Wilcher
SECONDER: Hutcherson
AYES: Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams
NAYS:

Mayor Rebecca C. Benton called the meeting back to order at 5:47 p.m..

Page 8 of 294



7 of 7 

XI. ADJOURNMENT
Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to adjourn the meeting.

Motion to Adjourn; PASSED (UNANIMOUS)
MOVER: Higgins
SECONDER: Hutcherson
AYES: Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Wilcher, Williams
NAYS:

The meeting adjourned at 5:47 p.m.

The foregoing minutes are true and correct and approved by me on this _____ 
day of ______________, 2023. 

_______________________________ 
Rebecca C. Benton, Mayor 

Attest: 

__________________________________ 
Kiley Fusco, Clerk of Council 

Page 9 of 294



Page 10 of 294



Page 11 of 294



Page 12 of 294



Page 13 of 294



Page 14 of 294



Page 15 of 294



Page 16 of 294



Page 17 of 294



Page 18 of 294



Page 19 of 294



Page 20 of 294



Page 21 of 294



Page 22 of 294



Page 23 of 294



Page 24 of 294



Page 25 of 294



Page 26 of 294



 

 
City of Pooler • 100 SW Hwy 80 • Pooler, Georgia 31322 • (912) 748-7261 

www.pooler-ga.gov 

MAYOR 

Rebecca C. Benton 

 

CITY MANAGER 

Robert H. Byrd, Jr.  

 

CITY ATTORNEY 

Craig Call 

CITY COUNCIL 

M. Shannon Black 

Aaron C. Higgins 

Thomas Hutcherson 

Stevie E. Wall 

John M. Wilcher 

Karen L. Williams 

     

                                                                        COUNCIL REPORT 

Report for the month of May 2023 

 

Street: 

 

• Continued routine maintenance throughout the city repairing potholes, sidewalks, and shoulder 

work.  

• Filled in ruts along roads in various locations. 

• Repaired damaged traffic light on Benton Blvd. 

 

Signs: 

• Replaced 13 signs throughout the city. 

• Repaired 15 signs throughout the city. 

Street Sweeper: 

• 114 miles swept. 

 

Storm Water:  

• Completed routine residential workorders. 

• Replaced 2 storm catch basin inlet lids.  

• Repaired 6 catch basins in various locations. 

• Completed 36,992 feet of routine roadside ditch and outfall maintenance.  

 

Canal Maintenance:  

• Removed Beaver Dams from S.H Morgan box culverts on Pooler Parkway. 

• Routine maintenance of canals throughout the city. 

 

Public Works Admin: 

• Reviewed 16 sets of site plans.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 27 of 294

http://www.pooler-ga.gov/


 

 
City of Pooler • 100 SW Hwy 80 • Pooler, Georgia 31322 • (912) 748-7261 

www.pooler-ga.gov 

MAYOR 

Rebecca C. Benton 

 

CITY MANAGER 

Robert H. Byrd, Jr.  

 

CITY ATTORNEY 

Craig Call 

CITY COUNCIL 

M. Shannon Black 

Aaron C. Higgins 

Thomas Hutcherson 

Stevie E. Wall 

John M. Wilcher 

Karen L. Williams 

 

 

                                                                     COUNCIL REPORT 

Report for the month of May 2023 
 

 

Mrs. Williams, 

It gives me great pleasure to present to you, the work that our Wastewater Treatment Plant, 

Sewer, and Water Departments have accomplished since the last council meeting: 

Water: 

         

Inspected 53 Grease trap inspections. 

47 C.O inspections conducted. 

Replaced 16 residential and/or commercial laterals. 

Completed multiple misc. service orders throughout the city. 

Repaired water main on 600 block of West Tietgen Street. 

Repaired and/or replaced 38 water meters/mxu’s. 

           Witnessed the testing and certification of 133 backflow preventers. 

 

 

Sewer & WWTP:  

EOM report attached. 

  

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Matt Saxon 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 28 of 294

http://www.pooler-ga.gov/


 

 

  MAY 
2023 

Monthly Report 

480 Edsel Drive, Ste 100 
Richmond Hill, GA 31324 
912.445.0050 
www.eomworx.com 

Page 29 of 294



 

Pooler Monthly Report – MAY 2023 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
         
 
 
 
Content                 Section 
 
Executive Summary…………………………………………………………………………………… 1.0 
 
Wastewater Treatment ……………………………………………………………….………... 2.0  
 
Collections & Distribution….…………………….…………………………………….……….. 3.0 
 
Engineering …..…………….……………………………………………………………….………….....  4.0 
 
Administration………………………..……………………………………………………………………. 5.0 
 
Appendix …………………………………………………………………………………………………………6.0 
 
 
   

Page 30 of 294



 

Pooler Monthly Report – MAY 2023 

SECTION 1.0  
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
EOM is pleased to provide this revised monthly report to the City 
of Pooler for review.  Departmental reports and requested 
supplemental data can be found enclosed.  
 
MONTH HIGHLIGHT 
 

- SEWER – Responded to (4) grinder pump calls 
- SEWER – Responded to (7) sewer blockage/leak calls 
- SEWER- Replaced (1) manhole riser and lid 

 
- WASTEWATER LIFT STATIONS 

▪ PO-LS-24.05 Bridgewater: Cleaned sonar   
▪ Pulled Pump and removed debris at the following stations : 

o PO-LS-06.01 YMCA : Pump #1 
o PO-LS-08.01 POOLER PARK OF COMMERCE : Pump #1 
o PO-LS-16.01 SOMERSBY : Pump #1 
o PO-LS-05.01 BENTON BLVD : Pump # 1 
o PO-LS-28.02 POOLER MIDDLE SCHOOL : Pump #2 
 

 
- WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANT 

▪ PO-WW_EF-02 EFFLUENT REUSE PUMP: Replaced packing  
▪ PO-WW-RW-05 MECHANICAL BAR SCREEN_2: Replaced 

compactor basket 
▪ PO-WW-MB-07 AEROBIC ZONE 1_BASIN 1: Repaired water leak 

and replaced valve 
▪ PO-WW-MB-60 MBR_BASIN 4: Replaced faulty float. 
▪ PO-WW-GR-26 Gear Motor 1: Replaced hinge with heavy duty 

hinge. 
▪ PO-WW-MB-73 Chemical Dosing Pump_1: Repaired cracked 

pipe. 
 

Page 31 of 294



 

Pooler Monthly Report – MAY 2023 

  
 
 
  

WASTEWATER 
TREATMENT 

Section 2.0 

Page 32 of 294



 

Pooler Monthly Report – MAY 2023 

 

SECTION 2.0 
WASTEWATER TREATMENT 
 
Table 1 – WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANT PERMIT COMPARISON 
 

  

Page 33 of 294



 

Pooler Monthly Report – MAY 2023 

  

COLLECTIONS & 
DISTRIBUTION 

Section 3.0 

Page 34 of 294



 

Pooler Monthly Report – MAY 2023 

SECTION 3.0 
COLLECTIONS & DISTRIBUTION 
 
Table 1 – SEWER MAINTENANCE WORK ORDER REPORT 

  

Page 35 of 294



 

Pooler Monthly Report – MAY 2023 

  

ENGINEERING 

Section 4.0 

Page 36 of 294



 

Pooler Monthly Report – MAY 2023 

 

SECTION 4.0 
ENGINEERING 
SITE PLAN REVIEW 
 
I. Approved Projects 

▪ Barrow Drive Trailer Parking Extension 
▪ Towne Place Pooler 

 
II. Projects Under Review 

▪ Pipemakers Independent Senior Living Center (Submittal #1)  
▪ McDonald’s (Pooler Parkway) (Submittal #2) 
▪ Blakely Commons - Multifamily (Submittal #2) 
▪ Cambria Suites (Submittal #2) 
▪ Joe Hudson Collision Center (Submittal #1) 
▪ Forest Lakes Phase 12 (Submittal #1) 
▪ Dean Forest Truck Yard (Submittal #2) 
▪ Express Oil Change & Tire Engineers (Submittal #1) 
▪ Mosaic Gardens (Submittal #2) 
▪ Pet Paradise (Submittal #2) 

 
III. Projects Waiting On Responses 

▪ Vystar – 2nd review completed 5/31/2023 
▪ Dozier Crane – 1st review completed 5/25/2023 
▪ Lift Power Trailer Yard – 2nd review completed 5/25/2023 
▪ Valvoline – 2nd review completed 5/17/2023 
▪ Little Neck Rd Trailer Yard – 1st review completed 5/11/2023 
▪ McDonald’s (Shared Entrance) – 2nd review completed 5/11/2023 
▪ Tract W & Harmony Amenity (Revised) – 2nd review completed 5/11/2023 
▪ Pittman Subaru (Revised) – 1st review completed 5/10/2023 
▪ Harmony Subdivision Phase 8 – 1st review completed 4/24/2023 
▪ Transportation Logistics Terminal Tract 2A – 2nd review completed 4/17/2023 
▪ 212 E Hwy 80 –2nd review completed 4/3/2023 
▪ I-16 Mixed Use Access Rd – 1st review completed 3/27/2023 
▪ Chick-fil-A (Grand Central Blvd) – 1st review completed 3/23/2023 
▪ Sharon Court Container Yard – 3rd review completed 3/16/2023 
▪ Pooler One – Pine Barren Road Entrance  - 1st review completed 11/22/2022 
▪ Quik Trip – 5th review completed on 11/16/2022 
▪ Pooler Parkway & Quacco Rd Widening – 2nd review completed 10/11/2022 
▪ Lot 3 Dean Forest Business Park – 3rd review completed 10/18/2022 
▪ Westbrook Area L1 – 2nd review completed 9/8/2022 
▪ Westbrook Area L2 – 2nd Review Completed 9/8/2022 
▪ Westbrook Area L3 – 2nd Review completed 9/8/2022 
▪ Bragg Tract Phase 1 – 1st review completed 9/22/2022 

 

Page 37 of 294



 

Pooler Monthly Report – MAY 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
Bond Review: 
 

I. Approved Bond Requests 
▪ Easthaven Area A2 – Warranty & Sidewalk Performance Bond  

 
II. Bond Requests Under Review 

▪ N/A 
 
Additional Engineering Services: 

 
▪ Lift Station #21 & 22: PINCO submitted proposed and has been reviewed 

by EOM. Construction expected to start in Fall 2023. Generation expected 
to be delivered in 2024. 
 

▪ MS4: EOM has submitted the report. 
 
▪ City Specifications (Update): EOM met with staff on 5/30/23 to discuss 

proposed updates. EOM has since received comments from City Staff. 
Update is expected to be complete in Fall 2023. 

 
▪ Towne Park (CCTV): The project was accepted May 2023, following review 

of CCTV submittal.   
 
  

Page 38 of 294



 

Pooler Monthly Report – MAY 2023 

  

ADMINISTRATION 

Section 5.0 

Page 39 of 294



 

Pooler Monthly Report – MAY 2023 

SECTION 5.0 
ADMINISTRATION 
 
 
BUDGET 
 

 
  

Page 40 of 294



 

Pooler Monthly Report – MAY 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX 

Section 6.0 

Page 41 of 294



PERMITTEE NAME/ADDRESS (Include Facility Name/Location if Different)

NAME:

ADDRESS:

FACILITY:

LOCATION:

 

Pooler City of

100 Southwest Hwy 80

Pooler, GA 31322

Pooler, City of (Bloomingdale Regional WPCP)

Winskie Road

Pooler GA 31322

NATIONAL POLLUTANT DISCHARGE ELIMINATION SYSTEM (NPDES)

DISCHARGE MONITORING REPORT (DMR)

FROM TO

PERMIT NUMBER DISCHARGE NUMBER

MONITORING PERIOD

YEAR YEARMO MODAY DAY

GA0047066 002-B3

23 04 01 23 04 30

DMR MAILING ZIP CODE:

Form Approved

OMB No. 2040-0004

Page

MAJOR

WPCP Discharge

External Outfall

No Discharge

EPA Form 3320-1 (Rev.01/06) Previous editions may be used.

COMMENTS AND EXPLANATION OF ANY VIOLATIONS (Reference all attachments here)

NAME/TITLE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

TYPED OR PRINTED
SIGNATURE OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER OR

AUTHORIZED AGENT AREA Code NUMBER YEAR MO DAY

TELEPHONE DATEI certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments were prepared under my direction or
supervision in accordance with a system designed to assure that qualified personnel properly gather and
evaluate the information submitted. Based on my inquiry of the person or persons who manage the
system, or those persons directly responsible for gathering the information, the information submitted is,
to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, accurate, and complete. I am aware that there are significant
penalties for submitting false information, including the possibility of fine and imprisonment for knowing
violations.

Marcus Hobgood

Wastewater Manager WW1-015056
912 445-1894 23 05 15

1

 

    QUANTITY OR LOADING QUALITY OR CONCENTRATION
NO.
EX

FREQUENCY
OF ANALYSIS

SAMPLE
TYPEPARAMETER

  VALUE VALUE UNITS VALUE VALUE VALUE UNITS      

OXYGEN, DISSOLVED
(DO)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

**** ****
****

7.7 **** ****
 mg/L

0 01/01 GR GRAB

00300  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

6.0
MINIMUM

**** ****
 mg/L

  01/01 GR GRAB

BOD, 5-DAY
(20 DEG. C)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

56.6 76.0
 lb/d

**** 2.3 3.1
 mg/L

0 03/DW
CP

COMPOS

00310  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

82.6
MO AVG

102.6
WKLY AVG  lb/d

**** 3.0
MO AVG

4.5
WKLY AVG  mg/L

  03/DW
CP

COMPOS

BOD, 5-DAY
(20 DEG. C)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

6214 7257
 lb/d

**** 249 277
 mg/L

0 03/DW
CP

COMPOS

00310  1  0  0
RAW SEWAGE INFLUENT

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

Req Mon
MO AVG

Req Mon
WKLY AVG  lb/d

**** Req Mon
MO AVG

Req Mon
WKLY AVG  mg/L

  03/DW
CP

COMPOS

PH
 

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

**** ****
****

7.0 **** 7.3
 SU

0 01/01 GR GRAB

00400  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

6.0
MINIMUM

**** 8.5
MAXIMUM  SU

  01/01 GR GRAB

SOLIDS, TOTAL
SUSPENDED

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

26.2 53.3
 lb/d

**** 1.1 2.2
 mg/L

0 03/DW
CP

COMPOS

00530  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

138.0
MO AVG

172.0
WKLY AVG  lb/d

**** 5.0
MO AVG

7.5
WKLY AVG  mg/L

  03/DW
CP

COMPOS

SOLIDS, TOTAL
SUSPENDED

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

5253 6192
 lb/d

**** 210 235
 mg/L

0 03/DW
CP

COMPOS

00530  1  0  0
RAW SEWAGE INFLUENT

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

Req Mon
MO AVG

Req Mon
WKLY AVG  lb/d

**** Req Mon
MO AVG

Req Mon
WKLY AVG  mg/L

  03/DW
CP

COMPOS

NITROGEN, ORGANIC
TOTAL (AS N)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

**** ****
****

**** 5.090 ****
 mg/L

0 01/30
CP

COMPOS

00605  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

**** Req Mon
MO AVG

****
 mg/L

  01/30
CP

COMPOS

Page 42 of 294



PERMITTEE NAME/ADDRESS (Include Facility Name/Location if Different)

NAME:

ADDRESS:

FACILITY:

LOCATION:

 

Pooler City of

100 Southwest Hwy 80

Pooler, GA 31322

Pooler, City of (Bloomingdale Regional WPCP)

Winskie Road

Pooler GA 31322

NATIONAL POLLUTANT DISCHARGE ELIMINATION SYSTEM (NPDES)

DISCHARGE MONITORING REPORT (DMR)

FROM TO

PERMIT NUMBER DISCHARGE NUMBER

MONITORING PERIOD

YEAR YEARMO MODAY DAY

GA0047066 002-B3

23 04 01 23 04 30

DMR MAILING ZIP CODE:

Form Approved

OMB No. 2040-0004

Page

MAJOR

WPCP Discharge

External Outfall

No Discharge

EPA Form 3320-1 (Rev.01/06) Previous editions may be used.

COMMENTS AND EXPLANATION OF ANY VIOLATIONS (Reference all attachments here)

NAME/TITLE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

TYPED OR PRINTED
SIGNATURE OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER OR

AUTHORIZED AGENT AREA Code NUMBER YEAR MO DAY

TELEPHONE DATEI certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments were prepared under my direction or
supervision in accordance with a system designed to assure that qualified personnel properly gather and
evaluate the information submitted. Based on my inquiry of the person or persons who manage the
system, or those persons directly responsible for gathering the information, the information submitted is,
to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, accurate, and complete. I am aware that there are significant
penalties for submitting false information, including the possibility of fine and imprisonment for knowing
violations.

Marcus Hobgood

Wastewater Manager WW1-015056
912 445-1894 23 05 15

2

 

    QUANTITY OR LOADING QUALITY OR CONCENTRATION
NO.
EX

FREQUENCY
OF ANALYSIS

SAMPLE
TYPEPARAMETER

  VALUE VALUE UNITS VALUE VALUE VALUE UNITS      

NITROGEN, AMMONIA
TOTAL (AS N)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

5.5 11.2
 lb/d

**** 0.2 0.5
 mg/L

0 03/DW
CP

COMPOS

00610  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

11.0
MO AVG

13.8
WKLY AVG  lb/d

**** 0.4
MO AVG

0.6
WKLY AVG  mg/L

  03/DW
CP

COMPOS

NITROGEN, KJELDAHL
TOTAL (AS N)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

**** ****
****

**** 6.500 ****
 mg/L

0 01/30
CP

COMPOS

00625  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

**** Req Mon
MO AVG

****
 mg/L

  01/30
CP

COMPOS

NITRITE PLUS NITRATE
TOTAL 1 DET. (AS N)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

**** ****
****

**** 11.5 ****
 mg/L

0 01/30
CP

COMPOS

00630  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

**** Req Mon
MO AVG

****
 mg/L

  01/30
CP

COMPOS

PHOSPHORUS, TOTAL
(AS P)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

5.5 6.0
****

**** 0.5 0.6
 mg/L

0 03/DW
CP

COMPOS

00665  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

27.5
MO AVG

34.4
WKLY AVG ****

**** 1.0
MO AVG

1.5
WKLY AVG  mg/L

  03/DW
CP

COMPOS

PHOSPHATE, ORTHO (AS
P)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

**** ****
****

**** 0.480 ****
 mg/L

0 01/30
CP

COMPOS

04175  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

**** Req Mon
MO AVG

****
 mg/L

  01/30
CP

COMPOS

FLOW, IN CONDUIT OR
THRU TREATMENT PLANT

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

2.9 2.97
 MGD

**** **** ****
 ****

0 99/99 CN CONTIN

50050  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

3.3
MO AVG

4.2
WKLY AVG  MGD

**** **** ****
****

  99/99 CN CONTIN

COLIFORM, FECAL
GENERAL

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

**** ****
****

**** 4.1 8.9
 #/100mL

0 02/DA GR GRAB

74055  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

**** 23
MO GEO

23
WKLY GEO  #/100mL

  02/DA GR GRAB

Page 43 of 294



PERMITTEE NAME/ADDRESS (Include Facility Name/Location if Different)

NAME:

ADDRESS:

FACILITY:

LOCATION:

 

Pooler City of

100 Southwest Hwy 80

Pooler, GA 31322

Pooler, City of (Bloomingdale Regional WPCP)

Winskie Road

Pooler GA 31322

NATIONAL POLLUTANT DISCHARGE ELIMINATION SYSTEM (NPDES)

DISCHARGE MONITORING REPORT (DMR)

FROM TO

PERMIT NUMBER DISCHARGE NUMBER

MONITORING PERIOD

YEAR YEARMO MODAY DAY

GA0047066 002-B3

23 04 01 23 04 30

DMR MAILING ZIP CODE:

Form Approved

OMB No. 2040-0004

Page

MAJOR

WPCP Discharge

External Outfall

No Discharge

EPA Form 3320-1 (Rev.01/06) Previous editions may be used.

COMMENTS AND EXPLANATION OF ANY VIOLATIONS (Reference all attachments here)

NAME/TITLE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

TYPED OR PRINTED
SIGNATURE OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER OR

AUTHORIZED AGENT AREA Code NUMBER YEAR MO DAY

TELEPHONE DATEI certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments were prepared under my direction or
supervision in accordance with a system designed to assure that qualified personnel properly gather and
evaluate the information submitted. Based on my inquiry of the person or persons who manage the
system, or those persons directly responsible for gathering the information, the information submitted is,
to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, accurate, and complete. I am aware that there are significant
penalties for submitting false information, including the possibility of fine and imprisonment for knowing
violations.

Marcus Hobgood

Wastewater Manager WW1-015056
912 445-1894 23 05 15

3

 

    QUANTITY OR LOADING QUALITY OR CONCENTRATION
NO.
EX

FREQUENCY
OF ANALYSIS

SAMPLE
TYPEPARAMETER

  VALUE VALUE UNITS VALUE VALUE VALUE UNITS      

CYANIDE, TOTAL
(AS CN)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

**** ****
****

**** 3.6000 ****
 ug/L

0 01/30 GR GRAB

00720  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

**** ****
MO AVG

****
 ug/L

  01/30 GR GRAB

MERCURY, TOTAL
(AS HG)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

**** ****
****

**** 0.04 ****
 ng/L

0 01/30 GR GRAB

71900  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

**** ****
MO AVG

****
 ng/L

  01/30 GR GRAB

SOLIDS, SUSPENDED
PERCENT REMOVAL

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

**** ****
 dry ton

99.5 **** ****
 %

0 01/30 CA CALCTD

81011  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

Req Mon
MO AVG

****
 dry ton

>85
MINIMUM

**** ****
 %

  01/30 CA CALCTD

BOD, 5-DAY PERCENT
REMOVAL

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

**** ****
****

99.0 **** ****
 %

0 01/30 CA CALCTD

81010  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

>85
MINIMUM

**** ****
 %

  01/30 CA CALCTD

SOLIDS, SLUDGE, TOT,
DRY WEIGHT

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

55 ****
 dry ton

**** **** ****
****

0 01/30 CA CALCTD

78477  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

Req Mon
MO AVG

****
 dry ton

**** **** ****
****

  01/30 CA CALCTD

  SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

   
 

     
 

     

  PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

   
 

     
 

     

  SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT

   
 

     
 

     

  PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

   
 

     
 

     

Page 44 of 294



April 2023 Permit Data

Daily Data

Daily

4/1/2023 - 4/30/2023

Pooler

Pooler RainFall

Precip In/Day

Inches/Day

Pooler

Influent

Flow Mgd

MGD

Pooler

EQ-Flow

MGD

Pooler

Effluent

Flow Mgd

MGD

Pooler

ReUse

Flow Mgd

MGD

Pooler

ReUse

Turbidity NTU

NTU

Pooler

Influent

Bod 5

MG/L

Pooler

Influent

Solids TSS

MG/L

Pooler

Effluent

Bod 5

MG/L

Pooler

Effluent

Solids TSS

MG/L

4/1/2023 - Saturday 0.00 3.297 2.890 3.214

4/2/2023 - Sunday 0.00 3.075 2.743 3.013

4/3/2023 - Monday 0.12 3.148 2.906 3.156 182.00 214.00 4.16 1.00

4/4/2023 - Tuesday 0.01 2.950 2.638 2.793 216.00 240.00 3.37 1.00

4/5/2023 - Wednesday 0.00 2.913 2.688 2.841 254.00 204.00 1.69 1.00

4/6/2023 - Thursday 0.00 2.910 2.683 2.836

4/7/2023 - Friday 0.32 2.978 2.715 2.985

4/8/2023 - Saturday 0.60 2.928 2.619 2.850

4/9/2023 - Sunday 0.00 3.167 2.808 3.070

4/10/2023 - Monday 0.00 2.995 2.619 2.889

4/11/2023 - Tuesday 0.00 2.972 2.791 2.961

4/12/2023 - Wednesday 0.00 2.900 2.721 2.892 211.00 153.00 2.00 1.07

4/13/2023 - Thursday 0.00 2.899 2.579 2.733 243.00 191.00 2.00 1.00

4/14/2023 - Friday 0.72 3.041 2.669 2.909 253.00 207.00 2.00 1.00

4/15/2023 - Saturday 0.00 3.083 2.795 3.026

4/16/2023 - Sunday 0.00 3.057 2.763 3.003

4/17/2023 - Monday 0.01 3.215 2.930 3.134

4/18/2023 - Tuesday 0.00 2.853 2.586 2.521

4/19/2023 - Wednesday 0.00 2.910 2.741 2.881 258.00 188.00 2.00 1.00

4/20/2023 - Thursday 0.00 2.804 2.558 2.694 0.07 0.08 258.00 214.00 2.00 1.00

4/21/2023 - Friday 0.00 2.902 2.642 2.778 283.00 200.00 2.00 1.00

4/22/2023 - Saturday 0.00 2.830 2.534 2.762

4/23/2023 - Sunday 0.20 2.982 2.671 2.901

4/24/2023 - Monday 0.00 2.868 2.521 2.703

4/25/2023 - Tuesday 0.10 2.837 2.655 2.769

4/26/2023 - Wednesday 0.00 2.814 2.697 2.835 263.00 192.00 2.70 1.37

4/27/2023 - Thursday 2.06 3.128 2.850 3.074 264.00 234.00 2.00 1.27

4/28/2023 - Friday 0.63 3.436 3.032 3.246 304.00 278.00 2.00 1.25

4/29/2023 - Saturday 0.45 3.272 2.963 3.240

4/30/2023 - Sunday 0.52 3.506 3.053 3.335

Sum 5.74 90.670 82.060 88.044 0.07 0.08 2989.00 2515.00 27.92 13.00

Avg 0.19 3.020 2.735 2.935 0.07 0.08 249.00 209.60 2.33 1.10

Max 2.06 3.510 3.053 3.335 0.07 0.08 304.00 278.00 4.16 1.40

Min 0.00 2.800 2.521 2.521 0.07 0.08 182.00 153.00 1.69 1.00

GMean

Page 45 of 294



April 2023 Permit Data

Pooler

Effluent

Nh3 N 

Ammonia

MG/L

Pooler

Effluent

Phosphorus

MG/L

Pooler

Effluent

Fecal Coliform

#/100ML

Pooler

Effluent

Nitrate + Nitrite

MG/L

Pooler

Effluent

TKN

MG/L

Pooler

Effluent

Org Nitrogen

MG/L

Pooler

Effluent

Ortho 

Phosphorus

MG/L

Pooler

Effluent

Cyanide

UG/L

Pooler

Effluent

Mercury

1631E

NG/L

Pooler

Effluent

Diss Oxygen

MG/L

Pooler

Effluent

pH

SU

Pooler

Solids 

Removed

Dry TON

8.13 7.17 0.00

8.71 7.29 0.00

0.30 0.42 20.00 8.18 7.19 3.67

0.29 0.42 4.00 8.19 7.18 1.74

0.17 0.43 8.24 7.14 3.69

7.99 7.17 5.16

8.12 7.12 0.00

8.23 7.24 0.00

8.24 7.24 0.00

8.26 7.13 1.95

8.26 7.07 5.40

0.26 0.50 2.50 11.50 6.50 5.09 0.48 8.14 7.15 1.82

0.24 0.56 8.16 7.09 3.74

0.24 0.61 2.50 8.06 7.11 0.00

8.04 7.03 0.00

8.09 7.10 0.00

8.00 7.24 3.72

2.00 8.09 7.04 3.78

0.23 0.48 8.17 7.17 1.78

0.20 0.49 5.00 8.11 7.12 3.91

0.22 0.49 8.13 7.05 0.00

7.84 7.11 0.00

8.03 7.22 0.00

3.60 0.04 7.65 7.23 1.74

11.50 7.90 7.04 5.70

0.21 0.57 8.10 6.98 3.76

0.21 0.52 1.50 7.95 7.07 3.74

0.18 0.47 8.02 7.21 0.00

8.08 7.13 0.00

7.92 7.21 0.00

2.73 5.97 49.00 11.50 6.50 5.09 0.48 3.60 0.04 243.03 214.24 55.00

0.23 0.50 4.10 11.50 6.50 5.09 0.48 3.60 0.04 8.10 7.14 2.00

0.30 0.61 20.00 11.50 6.50 5.09 0.48 3.60 0.04 8.71 7.29 6.00

0.17 0.42 1.50 11.50 6.50 5.09 0.48 3.60 0.04 7.65 6.98 0.00

4.10

Page 46 of 294



 

 

INTERIM 

COMPARATIVE 

OPERATING 

STATEMENTS 

 
 

City of Pooler, Georgia 
For the Five Months Ended May 31, 2023 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by: 

Finance Department 

Page 47 of 294



 

 

Page 48 of 294



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

Interim Comparative Operating Statements (Unaudited) 

Table of Contents 

For the Five Months Ended May 31, 2023 

 

PAGE

COMPARATIVE OPERATING STATEMENTS

Fund 100 ‐ General Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances.................................... 1

Fund 201 ‐ Tree Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances.......................................... 2

Fund 210 ‐ Forfeiture Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances................................. 3

Fund 230 ‐ ARP Local Fiscal Recovery Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances..... 4

Fund 275 ‐ Accommodation Excise Tax Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances... 5

Fund 320 ‐ Special Purpose Local Option Sales Tax (SPLOST) Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures,

and Changes in Fund Balances............................................................................................................................................... 6

Fund 350 ‐ Local Resources Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances...................... 7

Fund 505 ‐ Water and Sewer Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position............................... 8

Page 49 of 294



 

 

 

Page 50 of 294



     

COMPARATIVE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

(UNAUDITED)

Page 51 of 294



 

     

Page 52 of 294



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

Fund 100 ‐ General Fund 
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

For the Five Months Ended May 31, 2023 and 2022 

1 
 

2023 2022

REVENUES

Taxes...................................................................... 7,934,494.98$    7,066,871.73$   

Licenses and permits............................................. 467,607.37         768,204.64        

Intergovernmental................................................. 387,655.49         518,120.61        

Charges for services............................................... 1,241,819.23      1,087,494.03     

Fines and forfeitures.............................................. 362,003.91         306,962.26        

Investment earnings.............................................. 236,191.17         9,001.09            

Contributions and donations.................................. 71,542.27           187,932.35        

Miscellaneous........................................................ 59,849.43           70,234.99          

Total revenues............................................................ 10,761,163.85    10,014,821.70    746,342.15         7.45%

EXPENDITURES

Current

General government.......................................... 1,354,389.24      1,717,236.99     

Judicial................................................................ 201,940.20         164,913.52        

Public safety....................................................... 5,256,872.42      5,183,380.42     

Public works........................................................ 2,235,293.58      3,100,896.83     

Health and welfare............................................. 69,296.45           54,600.40          

Culture and recreation....................................... 700,970.63         706,855.28        

Housing and development................................. 450,191.24         308,706.37        

Debt service

Principal.............................................................. 581,248.58         323,574.25        

Interest............................................................... 83,279.82           51,769.66          

Total expenditures..................................................... 10,933,482.16    11,611,933.72    (678,451.56)        ‐5.84%

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures...................................... (172,318.31)        (1,597,112.02)    

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in............................................................ 522,772.38         413,901.72        

Transfers out.......................................................... (544,329.43)        ‐                     

Sale of general capital assets................................ 286,770.00         93,310.00          

Insurance recoveries.............................................. 52,885.14           24,127.53          

Total other financing sources (uses) 318,098.09         531,339.25         (213,241.16)        ‐40.13%

Net changes in fund balances.................................... 145,779.78         (1,065,772.77)    

Fund balances at beginning of year........................... 33,000,105.87    27,820,097.95   

Fund balances at end of year..................................... 33,145,885.65$  26,754,325.18$ 

Page 53 of 294



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

Fund 201 ‐ Tree Fund 
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

For the Five Months Ended May 31, 2023 and 2022 

2 
 

2023 2022

REVENUES

Contributions.......................................................... 359,975.00$       731,613.50$      

Investment earnings.............................................. 1,672.55             365.54               

Total revenues........................................................ 361,647.55         731,979.04         (370,331.49)        ‐50.59%

EXPENDITURES

Current

Parks................................................................... 61,867.73           68,633.64          

Total expenditures................................................. 61,867.73           68,633.64           (6,765.91)            ‐9.86%

Net change in fund balance....................................... 299,779.82         663,345.40        

Fund balance, beginning of year................................ 2,581,923.20      2,026,513.14     

Fund balance, end of year.......................................... 2,881,703.02$    2,689,858.54$   

Page 54 of 294



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

Fund 210 ‐ Forfeiture Fund 
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

For the Five Months Ended May 31, 2023 and 2022 

3 
 

2023 2022

REVENUES

Fines and forfeitures.............................................. 564.75$              7,500.00$          

Investment earnings.............................................. 126.14                23.76                 

Total revenues........................................................ 690.89                7,523.76             (6,832.87)            ‐90.82%

EXPENDITURES

Current

Public safety....................................................... 1,606.25             ‐                     

Total expenditures................................................. 1,606.25             ‐                      1,606.25            

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures.................................. (915.36)               7,523.76            

Fund balance, beginning of year................................ 120,812.07         109,758.62        

Fund balance, end of year.......................................... 119,896.71$       117,282.38$      

Page 55 of 294



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

Fund 230 ‐ American Rescue Plan Local Fiscal Recovery Fund 
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

For the Five Months Ended May 31, 2023 and 2022 

4 
 

2023 2022

REVENUES

Intergovernmental grants...................................... ‐$                    ‐$                   

Investment earnings.............................................. 5,612.62             680.29               

Total revenues........................................................ 5,612.62             680.29                4,932.33             725.03%

EXPENDITURES

Current

Health and welfare............................................. ‐                      ‐                     

Total expenditures................................................. ‐                      ‐                      ‐                     

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures.................................. 5,612.62             680.29               

Fund balance, beginning of year................................ 7,675.69             1,132.84            

Fund balance, end of year.......................................... 13,288.31$         1,813.13$          

Page 56 of 294



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

Fund 275 ‐ Accommodation Excise Tax Fund 
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

For the Five Months Ended May 31, 2023 and 2022 

5 
 

2023 2022

REVENUES

Taxes...................................................................... 1,045,544.78$    827,803.45$      

Total revenues........................................................ 1,045,544.78      827,803.45         217,741.33         26.30%

EXPENDITURES

Intergovernmental:

Assistance.......................................................... 522,772.39         413,901.73        

Total expenditures................................................. 522,772.39         413,901.73         108,870.66         26.30%

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures.................................. 522,772.39         413,901.72        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers out.......................................................... (522,772.39)        (413,901.72)        (108,870.67)        26.30%

Total other financing sources (uses) (522,772.39)        (413,901.72)       

Net change in fund balance....................................... ‐                      ‐                     

Fund balance, beginning of year................................ ‐                      ‐                     

Fund balance, end of year.......................................... ‐$                    ‐$                   

Page 57 of 294



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

Fund 320 ‐ Special Purpose Local Option Sales Tax (SPLOST) Fund 
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

For the Five Months Ended May 31, 2023 and 2022 

6 
 

2023 2022

REVENUES

Intergovernmental........................................ 1,155,087.15$    2,284,853.51$   

Investment earnings..................................... 100,095.86         1,357.48            

Total revenues.............................................. 1,255,183.01      2,286,210.99      (1,031,027.98)     ‐45.10%

EXPENDITURES

Capital outlay

Public works.............................................. 255,537.74         ‐                     

Recreation................................................. 326,950.95         ‐                     

Total expenditures........................................ 582,488.69         ‐                      582,488.69        

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures........................ 672,694.32         2,286,210.99     

Fund balance, beginning of year...................... 7,698,715.93      4,420,409.33     

Fund balance, end of year................................ 8,371,410.25$    6,706,620.32$   

Page 58 of 294



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

Fund 350 ‐ Local Resources Fund 
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

For the Five Months Ended May 31, 2023 and 2022 

7 
 

2023 2022

REVENUES

Intergovernmental.............................................. ‐$                        ‐$                       

Investment earnings............................................ ‐                          ‐                         

Total revenues..................................................... ‐                          ‐                          ‐                         

EXPENDITURES

Capital outlay

General government....................................... 294,293.00            ‐                         

Public safety..................................................... 47,145.00              ‐                         

Public works..................................................... 174,042.24            ‐                         

Recreation........................................................ 28,849.19              ‐                         

Total expenditures............................................... 544,329.43            ‐                          544,329.43           

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures.............................. (544,329.43)           ‐                         

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in.......................................................... 544,329.43            ‐                          544,329.43           

Total other financing sources (uses) 544,329.43            ‐                         

Net change in fund balance.................................... ‐                          ‐                         

Fund balance, beginning of year............................ ‐                          ‐                         

Fund balance, end of year...................................... ‐$                        ‐$                       

Page 59 of 294



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

Fund 505 ‐ Water and Sewer Fund 
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 

For the Five Months Ended May 31, 2023 and 2022 

8 
 

2023 2022

OPERATING REVENUES

Water fees............................................................. 1,538,502.20$    1,399,574.89$   

Sewer fees.............................................................. 1,832,588.26      1,816,141.81     

Miscellaneous fees................................................ 122,308.25         52,431.57          

Total operating revenues........................................... 3,493,398.71      3,268,148.27      225,250.44         6.89%

OPERATING EXPENSES

Sewer and Wastewater Treatment Plant

Purchased and contracted services.................... 997,462.23         754,496.08        

Materials and supplies....................................... 901,378.48         474,748.58        

Total sewer and wastewater treatment plant....... 1,898,840.71      1,229,244.66      669,596.05         54.47%

Water

Personnel services and employee benefits....... 259,768.81         280,975.78        

Purchased and contracted services.................... 311,543.66         183,999.60        

Materials and supplies....................................... 756,313.75         616,888.19        

Total water............................................................. 1,327,626.22      1,081,863.57      245,762.65         22.72%

Total operating expenses........................................... 3,226,466.93      2,311,108.23      915,358.70         39.61%

Operating income (loss)............................................ 266,931.78         957,040.04         (690,108.26)        ‐72.11%

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)

Interest income...................................................... 187,055.50         6,804.85            

Interest expense..................................................... (124,213.15)        (198,466.94)       

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses).................. 62,842.35           (191,662.09)        254,504.44         ‐132.79%

Income (loss) before capital contributions................ 329,774.13         765,377.95         (435,603.82)        ‐56.91%

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

Tap fees.................................................................. 410,376.60         293,640.48        

Capital cost recovery charges................................ 1,966,867.24      4,935,781.78     

Total capital contributions......................................... 2,377,243.84      5,229,422.26      (2,852,178.42)     ‐54.54%

Change in net position............................................... 2,707,017.97      5,994,800.21      (3,287,782.24)     ‐54.84%

Net position, beginning of year................................. 63,204,310.41    54,822,228.61   

Net position, end of year........................................... 65,911,328.38$  60,817,028.82$ 
 

Page 60 of 294



City of Pooler
Fire-Rescue Services

Fire-Rescue Report May 1st – 31st, 2023

MAJOR INCIDENT TYPE # INCIDENTS 
May 2023

% Of TOTAL 
May 2023

YEAR to Date 
2023

YEAR to Date 
2022

Fires 11 2.77% 60 81
❖ Structure Fires 3 - 16 24

Emergency Medical Service 196 49.25% 1105 1265
Motor Vehicle Collisions 41 10.30% 243 204
Technical Rescues 16 4.02% 48 48
Hazardous Condition (No Fire) 7 1.76% 33 31
Service Call 51 12.81% 220 256
Good Intent Call 35 8.79% 192 188
False Alarm & False Call 40 10.05% 172 148
Severe Weather & Natural Disaster 1 0.25% 5 3
Special Incident/Citizen Complaint 0 0 0 1

TOTAL 398 100% 2078 2225

May Call Volume Decreased from 452 in 2022 to 398 in 2023, (11% decrease)

For the year, call volume has decreased by 147 calls or 6.61%.

Total Fire Loss Year to Date 2023 - $368,754

Total Fire Loss Year to Date 2022 - $263,941

May Year to Date
1. Child Locked in Auto      3 13
2. Animal Locked in Auto      4 14
3. Blood Draws    16             57

Significant Incidents

1. Apartment Fire – 285 Park Ave – 5/17
2. Vehicle Extrication – S. Rogers Street – 5/12
3. Structure Fire – Mutual Aid to Port Wentworth – 5/15

Page 61 of 294



 

 
 Council Report  

Tuesday June 20, 2023 

May 2023   

 
• A total of 70 Part 1 crimes were reported in the month of May.  

• From the prior year 2022, there is an increase of 12% 

• A total of 28 shopliftings were reported in the month of May.  

• From the prior year 2022, this is an increase of 45%. 

• Total Calls for service in May were 2,193. 

• From the prior year 2022, this is a decrease of 10%. 

• A total of 1,327 citations were issued in the month of May.  

• From prior year 2022, this is a decrease of 9% 

• A total of 142 arrests were made in the month of May.  

• From the prior year 2022, this is a decrease of 12%. 

• A total of 30 DUI arrests were made in the month of May.  

• From the prior year 2022, this is a decrease of 3%. 

 

 

Activity Time Period 
5/1-5/31/2023 

Year to Date 
2023 

Year to Date 
2022 

Percentage 
Change from 

22 - 23 

     

Part 1 crimes 70 345 308 12% 

Shopliftings 28 139 96 45% 

Calls for service 2,193 10,412 11,523 -10% 

Citation 1,327 6,866 7,548 -9% 

Arrests 142 598 679 -12% 

DUI arrests 30 139 144 -3% 

Page 62 of 294



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

1

2

 

3

4

5

6

1

2

3

beds, in celebration of Arbor Day on May 6. (rain date)

The Pooler Gaelic Athletic Assoction continued with practices at the Rec Complex.

The Rec Dept hosted an SGA baseball tournament at the complex May 20 and 21.

Parks performed routine maintenance at all 5 parks, the community and senior

centers, and the cemetery.

Seniors attended a 'Smart Senior' event at Alee Temple in Savannah

Parks

The American Legion sponsored a fish fry at the center for the seniors

Center celebrated Mother's Day with monthly party

All regularly scheduled classes continued in May. 

and St Augustine, Fl.

Seniors had the opportunity to participate in outings to Statesboro, Hilton Head

Senior Center

Gymnastics, dance and tennis classes continued in May.  Registrations for new

sessions are open.

basketball continued.

The boy scouts cleaned Gleason Park and assisted with shaping up the flower

The community center was rented each weekend in May.

Pooler Parks & Recreation

played thru May.  The activities utilized both locations multiple days each week.

Monthly Report: May 2023

Recreation Department

Youth baseball, softball, teeball, spring soccer and spring volleyball seasons 

Registration for youth summer basketball, as well as high school summer 

All star teams were selected.

The monthly TVIP class was held at the community center.

Page 63 of 294



1  

City of Pooler  
Planning & Zoning Minutes 

June 12, 2023 
 
 

CALL TO ORDER: 
 

Chairman Matt Saxon called the meeting to order at 3:00 p.m.  
Commissioner Simmons led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 
Attendee Name Title Status 
Kimberly Dyer Zoning Admin./Secretary  Present 
Matt Saxon Chairman Present 
Chelsea Henneman Commissioner Precent 
Shirlenia Daniel Commissioner Present 
Falgun Patel Commissioner Absent 
Wade Simmons Commissioner Present 
Mark Williams Commissioner Present 
Ashley Brown Commissioner Present 
John Winn Commissioner Absent 
Pete Chaison Alternate Absent 
Brian Crooks City Planner Present 
Nicole Dixon Planning & Development Director Present 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
The minutes of the May 22, 2023, Pooler Planning and Zoning Commission were 
reviewed, and no corrections or amendments were noted. 
 
Result: Approved 
 
1-Motion: Commissioner Daniel 

   2-Second: Commissioner Brown 
Passed without opposition. 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 

 
1. Posting of Maintenance Bond/Sidewalk Performance Bond/Final Plat for Ellis 

Park, Phase 4 
 
Nicole Dixon, Director of Planning & Development, presented the plat to the Board for 
their review and recommendation. This phase will consist of 64 lots on 19.34 acres. The 
Public Works Department completed the final inspection on May 15, 2023, and all 
punch list items have been addressed.  Therefore, the developer has posted a 
maintenance bond in the amount of $512,322.85 and a sidewalk performance bond in 
the amount of $ 173,487.60 to record the plat.  

 
Result:  A motion was made to recommend approval of posting the bonds and final plat for Ellis Park, 
Phase 4. 
 

Page 64 of 294



2  

1- Motion: Commissioner Simmons 
   2- Second: Commissioner Daniels 
   Passed without opposition.   
 

2. Posting of Maintenance Bond/Sidewalk Performance Bond/Final Plat for Telfair 
Park, Phase 2 

 
Nicole Dixon, Director of Planning & Development, presented the plat to the Board for 
their review and recommendation. This phase will consist of 37 lots on 10.76 acres. The 
Public Works Department completed a final inspection on May 15, 2023 and all punch 
list items have been addressed. Therefore, the developer has posted a maintenance bond 
in the amount of $248,722.50 and a sidewalk performance bond in the amount of 
$69,154.80 to record the plat. 

 
Result:  A motion was made to recommend approval of posting the bonds and final plat for Telfair Park, 
Phase 2. 
 

1- Motion:  Commissioner Daniel 
   2- Second: Commissioner Henneman 
   Passed without opposition.   
 

3. Site Plan/landscape Plan for Barrow Drive Trailer Parking Extension 
 

Patrick Warner, with Coleman Company presented the site plan to the Board for 
their review and recommendation. The 5.20 acres site is located east of Barrow Drive 
and will consist of an expansion to existing trailer parking and expansion to the 
existing trailer parking area and the two on-site ponds, adjacent to the parking area. 
 

Result:  A motion was made to recommend approval of site plan/landscape plan for Barrow Drive Trailer 
Paring Extension, contingent upon the following: 

• All development trees approved and bonded by Phase 1, not being relocated, shall be brought 
into compliance before scheduling the pre-construction meeting for Phase 2 development. 

• All development trees being relocated from Phase 1 and planted in the Phase 2 development 
area shall be installed prior to close-out of the Phase 2 development. 

• The maintenance of the existing stormwater management facilities shall be completed, 
inspected, and approved by the City of Pooler prior to scheduling the Pre-Construction Meeting 
for Phase 2 development. The Maintenance shall include, but not be limited to, the mitigation 
of sedimentation in ponds, outlets, and stormwater conveyance features and complete 
stabilization of the Phase 1 site. If other stormwater maintenance issues are identified by the 
City of Pooler, these items shall also be mitigated prior to pre-construction meeting. 

• The parking surface/work yard associated with the Log Yard shall be brought into compliance 
through the provision of an acceptable gravel surface. The non-compliant parking 
surface/work yard associated with Phase 1 shall initiate the maintenance/compliance work 
within 6 months of the issuance of the Site Plan Approval Letter. The surfacing of the Phase 
1 site, bringing it into compliance, shall be completed and found acceptable to the City of 
Pooler prior to close-out of the Phase 2 development. 

 
1- Motion:  Commissioner Williams 

  2- Second: Commissioner Simmons 

Page 65 of 294



3  

  Passed without opposition.           
 

4. Site Plan/Landscape Plan for Towne Place Pooler Hotel 
 

Jay Maupin, with Maupin Engineering, presented the site plan to the Board for 
their review and recommendation. The project will consist of a 160-room hotel and 
associated site improvements. The existing lot is part of the Savannah Quarters 
Master Planned Development.  The site is located off Blue Moon Crossing.  
 

Result:  A motion was made to recommend approval of the site plan/landscape plan, for Towne Place Pooler 
Hotel, contingent upon the following: 
 

• A site plan shall be submitted to the City of Pooler prior to the pre-construction meeting, which 
includes the following modifications: 

o The 8-inch diameter sewer line coming from the building shall not be tied into the grease trap’s 
sampling manhole. Plans shall show this sewer line tying into the on-site system, at a location 
downstream of the sampling manhole. 

o Remove the name of the private access drive that is currently identified as Hospitality Drive. 

o Provide stop signs located at all locations where stop bars are shown (all driveways and parking 
lot). 

o Delineate the required 35-ft building setback, which shall be measured from the road centerline. 

• The City of Pooler shall be in receipt of the GSWCC Approval of the revised Erosion, Sedimentation, 
and Erosion Control Plans prior to the pre-construction meeting. 

• The proposed traffic improvements, as demonstrated in the plans, are designed to achieve the 
minimum standard traffic operations. These improvements are being permitted by two separate 
projects and both must be constructed and accepted by the City prior to close out and issuance of 
a Certificate of Occupancy for either. The applicable traffic improvements are as follows: 

o A westbound right turn deceleration lane on Blue Moon Crossing being permitted and 
constructed by ‘Walk On’s & Vet Center’. 

A modification to the southbound approach at Half Moon Way & Blue Moon Crossing intersection is 
being proposed under this project (Towne Place Pooler). This modification includes a right turn lane 
and thru/left turn lane on the south bound approach to the intersection. 
 

1- Motion:  Commissioner Williams 
   2- Second: Commissioner Simmons 
   Passed without opposition. 
 

5. Site Plan/Landscape Plan for 2101 Travis Field Road Truck Yard Improvements (Dean 
Forest Road) 

 
The development will include the improvements to an existing gravel truck yard by 
adding pavement and installing stormwater drainage structures including bioretention 
and detention ponds. The total project area is 14.62 acres. The City is in receipt of the 
Chatham County approval for the well. 
 

Page 66 of 294



4  

Result:  A motion was made to recommend approval of the site plan/landscape plan for 2101 Travis Field 
Road Truck Yard Improvements.  
 

1- Motion:  Commissioner Simmons 
   2- Second: Commissioner Williams 
   Passed without opposition.  
 

6. Site Plan/Landscape Plan for Tract W-Harmony Amenity Site 
 

The developer is proposing a revision to the Harmony Amenity site project to 
include the clearing and grading of the Tract W site, with some utility changes. 
Dirt will be removed from the amenity site and moved to Tract W for storage.   
 

Result:  A motion was made to recommend approval of the site plan/landscape plan for Tract W- Harmony 
Amenity Site, contingent upon the following: 

• As it pertains to the Tract W plans for clearing & grading and landscaping, one of the following 
shall be required: 

o Mitigation for the significant trees identified as being removed shall be provided in the form 
of payment into the City of Pooler Tree Fund prior to the issuance of the LDA permit; OR, 

o Mitigation for the significant trees identified as being removed shall be provided in the form 
of planting under the forthcoming development permit associated with Tract W.  The required 
planting shall be subject to all of the applicable requirements outlined in the City’s Ordinances 
and found as acceptable to the City Arborist and applicable City staff 

1- Motion:  Commissioner Williams 
   2- Second: Commissioner Daniel 
   Passed without opposition.  
 
Adjournment 
 

There being no further business, Commissioner Saxon asked for a motion to adjourn 
at approximately 3:11 p.m. 
 

1- Motion: Commissioner Brown 
2- Second: Commissioner Daniel 
Adjourned without opposition. 
 
The foregoing minutes are true and correct and approved by me on this 12th day of June 
2023. 
 
__________________________________________________ 

 
Kimberly Dyer, Zoning Administrator/P&Z Commission Secretary 

 
 

Page 67 of 294



City of Pooler
Single Family Detached Permits

May 2023

Date Permit # Subdivision Address Contractor Owner PIN #

Flood 
Zone/Flood 

Way
5/4/2023 230530 Westbrook 729 Blue Moon Xing., Lot 919 Lennar Carolinas Same 51009R03013
5/4/2023 230531 Westbrook 731 Blue Moon Xing., Lot 920 Lennar Carolinas Same 51009R03014
5/4/2023 230532 Westbrook 730 Blue Moon Xing., Lot 934 Lennar Carolinas Same 51009R05009
5/4/2023 230535 Westbrook 103 Holloway Hill, Lot 1024 Lennar Carolinas Same 51009R05091
5/4/2023 230536 Westbrook 110 Holloway Hill, Lot 1029 Lennar Carolinas Same 51009R05097
5/18/2023 230639 Westbrook 139 Puttenham Xing, Lot 25 Michael Rogers Construction Harish Karani 51009G02016
5/10/2023 230641 Westbrook 111 Jepson Way, Lot 373 Mungo Homes Same 51009S02016
5/10/2023 230642 Westbrook 112 Jepson Way, Lot 374 Mungo Homes Same 51009S02017
5/10/2023 230643 Westbrook 114 Jepson Way, Lot 375 Mungo Homes Same 51009S02018
5/10/2023 230644 Westbrook 116 Jepson Way, Lot 376 Mungo Homes Same 51009S02019
5/10/2023 230645 Westbrook 120 Jepson Way, Lot 378 Mungo Homes Same 51009S02021
5/15/2023 230658 610 N. Rogers St. Young's Inc. Larry Young 5001004003
5/22/2023 230678 Westbrook 105 Holloway Hill, Lot 1023 Lennar Carolinas Same 51009R05090
5/22/2023 230680 Westbrook 101 Holloway Hill, Lot 1025 Lennar Carolinas Same 51009R05092

Total 14

Page 68 of 294



City of Pooler
Townhome Permits

May 2023

Date Permit # Subdivision Address Contractor Owner PIN #

Flood 
Zone/Flood 

Way
5/3/2023 230595 Harmony Townhomes 144 Chorus Loop, Lot 29 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F11024
5/3/2023 230596 Harmony Townhomes 140 Chorus Loop, Lot 30 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F11025
5/3/2023 230597 Harmony Townhomes 136 Chorus Loop, Lot 31 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F11026
5/3/2023 230598 Harmony Townhomes 132 Chorus Loop, Lot 32 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F11027
5/3/2023 230599 Harmony Townhomes 128 Chorus Loop, Lot 33 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F11028
5/3/2023 230600 Harmony Townhomes 124 Chorus Loop, Lot 34 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F11029
5/3/2023 230604 Harmony Townhomes 116 Chorus Loop, Lot 35 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F11031
5/3/2023 230605 Harmony Townhomes 112 Chorus Loop, Lot 36 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F11032
5/3/2023 230606 Harmony Townhomes 108 Chorus Loop, Lot 37 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F11033
5/3/2023 230607 Harmony Townhomes 104 Chorus Loop, Lot 38 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F11034
5/3/2023 230608 Harmony Townhomes 100 Chorus Loop, Lot 39 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F11035
5/3/2023 230609 Harmony Townhomes 140 Verse Ln., Lot 40 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F12001
5/3/2023 230610 Harmony Townhomes 144 Verse Ln., Lot 41 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F12002
5/3/2023 230611 Harmony Townhomes 148 Verse Ln., Lot 42 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F12003
5/3/2023 230612 Harmony Townhomes 152 Verse Ln., Lot 43 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F12004
5/3/2023 230613 Harmony Townhomes 160 Verse Ln., Lot 44 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F12006
5/3/2023 230614 Harmony Townhomes 164 Verse Ln., Lot 45 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F12007
5/3/2023 230616 Harmony Townhomes 168 Verse Ln,. Lot 46 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F12008
5/3/2023 230617 Harmony Townhomes 172 Verse Ln., Lot 47 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F12009
5/3/2023 230628 Harmony Townhomes 101 Chorus Loop, Lot 54 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F13008
5/3/2023 230629 Harmony Townhomes 105 Chorus Loop, Lot 55 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F13009
5/3/2023 230630 Harmony Townhomes 109 Chorus Loop, Lot 56 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F13010
5/3/2023 230631 Harmony Townhomes 113 Chorus Loop, Lot 57 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F13011
5/15/2023 230659 Harmony Townhomes 172 Chorus Loop, Lot 23 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F11017
5/15/2023 230660 Harmony Townhomes 168 Chorus Loop, Lot 24 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F11018     
5/15/2023 230662 Harmony Townhomes 164 Chorus Loop, Lot 25 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F11019
5/15/2023 230666 Harmony Townhomes 160 Chorus Loop, Lot 26 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F11020
5/15/2023 230667 Harmony Townhomes 156 Chorus Loop, Lot 27 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F11021
5/15/2023 230668 Harmony Townhomes 152 Chorus Loop, Lot 28 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F11022
5/15/2023 230669 Harmony Townhomes 221 Chorus Loop, Lot 48 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F13002
5/15/2023 230670 Harmony Townhomes 217 Chorus Loop, Lot 49 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F13003
5/15/2023 230671 Harmony Townhomes 213 Chorus Loop, Lot 50 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F13004

Page 69 of 294



City of Pooler
Townhome Permits

May 2023

5/15/2023 230672 Harmony Townhomes 209 Chorus Loop, Lot 51 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F13005
5/15/2023 230673 Harmony Townhomes 205 Chorus Loop, Lot 52 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F13006
5/15/2023 230674 Harmony Townhomes 201 Chorus Loop, Lot 53 Landmark 24 Homes of Georgia Same 51010F13007

Total 35

Page 70 of 294



City of Pooler
Commercial Permits

May 2023

Date Permit # Address Contractor Owner Type/Project PIN #

Flood 
Zone/Flood 

Way
5/1/2023 230251 880 Towne Center Blvd., Unit 101 Chin Yo Hi Tony Yange Korean BBQ & Hotpot Restaurant 50017C02054
5/2/2023 230319 5158 Old Louisville Rd. C. Merrill Construction LLC HIG Property Management Office Building 5098701031
5/26/2023 230418 481 Pooler Pkwy Cal DeLoach Chad Weaver Remodel 50017A01091
5/23/2023 230472 5250 Old Louisville Rd. Bldg 9 R Peacock Construction , LLC Wesley Hobbs Interior renovation 5098701008
5/23/2023 230603 2331 Pooler Pkwy Unit B Barrie Hallem Moisaic Two Sub Station/Little Caesars Buildout 5100901007
5/25/2023 230625 110 Southern Junction Blvd. 102 MHL Solutions Inc Harish Kurani Spa Buildout 50017A01063
5/22/2023 230677 439 Pooler Pkwy Infinite Technical Services Tesla, Inc Tesla Supercharger Station 50017A01098
5/22/2023 230716 110 Southern Junction Blvd. 102 Michael Neal Harish Kurani Buildout Vanilla Shell 50017A01063

 

 

Total 8   

Page 71 of 294



Misc. Permits May 2023
Date Permit # Address Contractor Owner Project Type PIN # Flood Zone
5/5/2023 230527 114 E. Tietgen St. Alpha Foundation Specialists Glenn Smith Foundation Repair 5000502005

5/11/2023 230567 100 Moonlight Ln. Doug Bean Signs Moonlight BP Station Inc 2 Tenant Panel Signs

5/1/2023 230618 121 Post House Trl. JDH Decks and Fences Robbin Narciso Aluminum Fence 51009G02063
5/1/2023 230619 158 Harvest Hill JDH Decks and Fences Bryan & Rebecca Tecklenburg Aluminum Fence 5100901027
5/1/2023 230621 204 Chippinwood Cir. Vinyl Industries Jamer Aberson Aluminum Screen Room 51011E04009
5/2/2023 230622 108 Redfield Dr. Tuff Shed Larry Sheppard Storage Building

5/1/2023 230623 810 Towne Center Blvd Ste 112/113 Champion Fire Protection Inc Saiman International LLC Fire Sprinkler System

5/2/2023 230632 115 Canal St Ste 601 Advantage Air Marco Hernandez Install Hood

5/8/2023 230634 112 Coopers Rise Express Sunrooms Colleen Salmond Screen Room 51009Q06018

5/8/2023 230635 7 Coronado Ct. Express Sunrooms Robert Smith Covered Patio and Pergola 51010E03033
5/4/2023 230636 248 Pampas Dr. Freedom Forever Doris Mehu Roof Mounted Solar Panels

5/4/2023 230637 233 Silver Brook Cir. JDH Decks and Fences Susan Tutan 6' Wood Privacy Fence

5/5/2023 230638 1215 E. Hwy 80 Ste. 100 & 200 Pye Barker Fire Pie Society Fire Suppression System
5/4/2023 230640 100 Populus Dr. Hoffman Electric Novare Group Electical

5/5/2023 230646 102 Zoya Ln. Pye Barker Fire Zaxby's Fire Suppression System
5/8/2023 230651 206 Benelli Dr. Freddy's Services Inc Korak Marrero 6' Privacy Fence

5/11/2023 230652 102 Morgan Lakes Industrial Blvd. Braddy Electric Co Inc Baker Constructors Electical
5/9/2023 230653 219 Merganser Dr. Titanium Solar LLC Alexis Buentello Roof Mounted Solar Panels

5/10/2023 230654 1107 Big Bend Rd. Freedom Forever Robert Tobin Roof Mounted Solar Panels

5/12/2023 230655 1242 DJ's Way Thompson & Thompson Gloria Johnson Mechanical

5/12/2023 230656 80 Gateway Dr. Superior Fence and Rail Tyler Starnes Aluminum Fence

5/11/2023 230661 600 W Hwy 80 Thompson & Thompson George Jackson Electical

5/11/2023 230664 400 Southwilde Way Elvis Rivera Same Covered Porch 51015B03107
5/17/2023 230679 114 Coopers Rise Express Sunrooms Naponee Buckmon Screen Room 51009Q06017
5/17/2023 230684 1545 Pooler Pkwy Weeks Eelctrical Boin US Holdco, Inc Electical

5/22/2023 230687 95 Melody Dr. Cargill Fence Contracting George Kubin 6' Shadow Box Fence

5/19/2023 230688 151 Old Pond Cir. EMPWR Solar Zarah Dimond Roof Mounted Solar Panels

5/31/2023 230689 1000 Pine Barren Rd. AAA Sign Co Inc Pooler Parkway Pine Barren Wall Sign

5/23/2023 230693 133 Coleman Blvd. (Spec 1) Champion Fire Protection Inc Sunport Holdings Fire Sprinkler System

5/23/2023 230694 133 Coleman Blvd. (Spec 2) Champion Fire Protection Inc Sunport Holdings Fire Sprinkler System

5/23/2023 230696 1702 Pooler Pkwy Unit 111-113 Champion Fire Protection Inc Michael Johns Fire Sprinkler System

5/23/2023 230697 4 Hickory Ct. Tippins Homes Jonathon Meek Extend Existing Porch 51009G01091
5/22/2023 230702 118 Pickett Fence Ln. Superior Fence and Rail Ally Weiler 6' White Vinyl Privacy Fence

5/22/2023 230703 63 Yellow Jasmine Ct. Freedom Forever Sarah Allmaras Roof Mounted Solar Panels

5/22/2023 230704 338 Southwilde Way Freedom Forever Joel Monroy Roof Mounted Solar Panels

5/23/2023 230705 206 Longleaf Cir Palmetto Solar LLC David Illingworth Roof Mounted Solar Panels

5/23/2023 230706 462 Garden Acres Way Palmetto Solar LLC James Ryan Roof Mounted Solar Panels

5/23/2023 230707 122 Puttenham Xing Halleluyah Restoration Gregory and Karen Ganzkow 4' Black Aluminum Fence

5/22/2023 230708 104 Como Dr. JDH Decks and Fences Matthew Weirich 4' Aluminum Fence

5/23/2023 230717 1013 E. Hwy 80 Jacobs Telecommunications Inc FG Living Trust Cell Tower Collocate

5/23/2023 230719 880 Towne Center Blvd Signs by Kelli Johns LLC Pooler Rising Group LLC Wall Sign

5/30/2023 230722 2120 Pooler Pkwy Pye Barker Fire Chipotle Fire Suppression System

5/24/2023 230723 101 Juliett Low Ln. JDH Decks and Fences Angela Holliman 5' Aluminum Fence

5/31/2023 230725 5212 Old Louisville Rd. AAA Sign Co Inc PB/Strategic Pooler LLC Freestanding Monument Sign
Page 72 of 294



Misc. Permits May 2023
Date Permit # Address Contractor Owner Project Type PIN # Flood Zone
5/25/2023 230726 113 Freemont Ln. Daniel Shanahan Same 5' Aluminum Fence

5/25/2023 230728 42 Woodford Reserve Dr. Premier Pools & Spas Cory Ott Inground Swimming Pool

5/30/2023 230740 257 McQueen Dr. JDH Decks and Fences Clinton Lagasse Aluminum Fence

5/31/2023 230746 115 Canal St Ste 601 Taqueria Los Compas Same Temporary Sign 

5/31/2023 230756 317 Winchester Dr. Hector Eide Same Storage Building

5/31/2023 230757 115 Beatty St. Raymond Clough Same Storage Building

Total 50

Page 73 of 294



City of Pooler
Certificate of Occupancy

May 2023
Date Permit # Subdivision Address Type of Construction Contractor Owner

5/1/2023 230022 Hunt Club Townhomes 130 Congo Ct., Lot 518 Townhome Beazer Homes Same
5/1/2023 221399 Westbrook 131 Holloway Hill, Lot 1093 Townhome DR Horton Same
5/2/2023 221392 Westbrook 137 Holloway Hill, Lot 1090 Townhome DR Horton Same
5/2/2023 221096 Westbrook 128 Tupelo St., Lot 222 Single Family Detached Logan Homes SC LLC Same
5/3/2023 221387 Westbrook Glen 140 Harvest Hill, Lot 831 Single Family Detached Pulte Home Company LLC Same
5/3/2023 221032 Forest Lakes 3 Superior Ln., Lot 913 Single Family Detached Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same
5/3/2023 220923 Telfair Park 1009 Easthaven Blvd., Lot 364 Single Family Detached Mungo Homes Same
5/4/2023 221282 Harmony 121 Melody Dr., Lot 622 Single Family Detached Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same
5/5/2023 221189 Harmony 116 Melody Dr., Lot 601 Single Family Detached Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same
5/5/2023 221400 Westbrook 150 Holloway Hill, Lot 1096 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same
5/8/2023 220343 Hunt Club  309 Serengeti Blvd., Lot 605 Single Family Detached Beazer Homes Same
5/8/2023 220342 Hunt Club  307 Serengeti Blvd., Lot 604 Single Family Detached Beazer Homes Same
5/8/2023 221144 810 Towne Center Blvd. Unit 102 CBD Store Buildout Wilson Pickett Paul Patel
5/9/2023 221095 Westbrook 130 Tupleo St., Lot 221 Single Family Detached Logan Homes SC LLC Same

5/10/2023 220914 Telfair Park 1003 Easthaven Blvd., Lot 361 Single Family Detached Mungo Homes Same
5/12/2023 220419 Hunt Club Townhomes 133 Congo Ct., Lot 502 Townhome Beazer Homes Same
5/12/2023 220437 Hunt Club Townhomes 135 Congo Ct., Lot 503 Townhome Beazer Homes Same
5/12/2023 220439 Hunt Club Townhomes 137 Congo Ct., Lot 504 Townhome Beazer Homes Same
5/12/2023 221474 Westwood Reserve 76 Woodford Reserve Dr., Lot 58 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same
5/12/2023 210993 Westbrook 210 Park Chase, Lot 712 Single Family Detached Village Park Homes LLC Same
5/13/2023 230292 2201 Pooler Pkwy Unit 500 Nail Salon Addition Yufei Liu Delux Nail & Spa
5/15/2023 221398 Westbrook 133 Holloway Hill, Lot 1092 Townhome DR Horton Same
5/15/2023 221185 Westwood Reserve 79 Woodford Reserve Dr., Lot 92 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same
5/15/2023 220925 Telfair Park 1013 Easthaven Blvd., Lot 366 Single Family Detached Mungo Homes Same
5/16/2023 220978 Westwood Reserve 45 Woodford Reserve Dr., Lot 84 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same
5/16/2023 221276 Harmony 118 Melody Dr., Lot 602 Single Family Detached Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same
5/16/2023 221349 Harmony 123 Melody Dr., Lot 621 Single Family Detached Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same
5/16/2023 221278 Harmony 120 Melody Dr., Lot 603 Single Family Detached Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same
5/16/2023 221111 Telfair Park 1012 Easthaven Blvd., Lot 432 Single Family Detached Mungo Homes Same
5/16/2023 220728 Westbrook Villas 151 Mallory Pl., Lot 173 Single Family Detached Village Park Homes LLC Same
5/18/2023 221027 Forest Lakes 132 Como Dr., Lot 924 Single Family Detached Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same
5/18/2023 221047 Westbook 128 Kent Trl., Lot 541 Single Family Detached HD Construction DJ Desai
5/18/2023 221401 Westbrook 152 Holloway Hill, Lot 1097 Townhome DR Horton Same
5/18/2023 221397 Westbrook 135 Holloway Hill, Lot 1091 Townhome DR Horton Same
5/18/2023 221275 Forest Lakes 120 Como Dr., Lot 918 Single Family Detached Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same
5/18/2023 220451 100 Blue Moon Xing, Unit 117 Office Buildout Boomer Homes Inc Judge Realty, LLC
5/19/2023 220341 Hunt Club 305 Serengeti Blvd., Lot 603 Single Family Detached Beazer Homes Same
5/19/2023 220258 Hunt Club 364 Serengeti Blvd., Lot 609 Single Family Detached Beazer Homes Same
5/19/2023 210472 Westbrook 202 Park Chase, Lot 716 Single Family Detached Village Park Homes LLC Same

Page 74 of 294



City of Pooler
Certificate of Occupancy

May 2023
Date Permit # Subdivision Address Type of Construction Contractor Owner

5/19/2023 221371 Telfair Park 101 Juliette Low, Lot 418 Single Family Detached Mungo Homes Same
5/19/2023 200232 Pooler III 3002 Benton Grove, Bldg 300 Multi-Family Apartments Morrow Construction Co DD Benton LLC
5/22/2023 221097 Westbrook 113 Quince St., Lot 243 Single Family Detached Logan Homes SC LLC Same
5/22/2023 200225 Pooler III 3002 Benton Grove Cabana Morrow Construction Co DD Benton LLC
5/22/2023 221389 Westwood Reserve 74 Woodford Reserve Dr., Lot 59 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same
5/22/2023 221297 Westwood Reserve 72 Woodford Reserve Dr., Lot 60 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same
5/24/2023 220603 Westbrook 178 Spanton Crescent, Lot 512 Single Family Detached Logan Homes SC LLC Same
5/24/2023 220237 Morgans Corner 1000 Pine Barren Rd. Units 107-108 Sunrise Restaurant Buildout R Peacock Constrution Thinh Pham
5/24/2023 220729 Westbrook Villas 155 Mallory Pl., Lot 175 Single Family Detached Village Park Homes LLC Same
5/24/2023 220731 Westbrook Villas 142 Mallory Pl., Lot 177 Single Family Detached Village Park Homes LLC Same
5/24/2023 221477 Telfair Park 101 Jepson Way, Lot 368 Single Family Detached Mungo Homes Same
5/25/2023 221494 419 W Hwy 80 Rita's Italian Ice Buildout Basin Co. LLC. Jesse and Tim Andorn
5/26/2023 221283 Harmony 119 Melody Dr., Lot 623 Single Family Detached Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same
5/26/2023 221104 Westwood Reserve 71 Woodford Reserve Dr., Lot 88 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same

Total 53

Page 75 of 294



Monthly Report
May 2023

INSPECTORS
Scott MacPherson 244 Inspections (Included in Salary)
Frank Garza 839 Inspections (Included in Salary)
Josh Moody 63 Inspections
Total Inspections: 1,146 Inspections

Page 76 of 294



Page 77 of 294



Page 78 of 294



Page 79 of 294



Page 80 of 294



Page 81 of 294



Page 82 of 294



Page 83 of 294



Page 84 of 294



Page 85 of 294



Page 86 of 294



Page 87 of 294



Page 88 of 294



Page 89 of 294



Page 90 of 294



Page 91 of 294



 

 
City of Pooler • 100 SW Hwy 80 • Pooler, Georgia 31322 • (912) 748-7261 

www.pooler-ga.gov 

MAYO R 
Reb ecca C . Benton 

 
CITY MANAGER 

Rob ert H. By rd, Jr.  
 

CITY ATTO RNEY 
Craig  Call 

CITY CO UNCIL 
M. Shannon Black 
Aaron C . Higgins  

Thom as  Hutchers on 
Stevie E. Wall 

John M. Wilcher 
Karen L. William s  

Barrow Drive Trailer Parking Extension – Site Development Plan 

Project Number:  #220174 

P&Z Meeting Date:  June 12, 2023 

Council Meeting Date:  June 20, 2023 

Applicant and Authorized Agent:  Patrick Warner 

Location (Address):  Barrow Drive 

Parcel (PIN):  51010 03013 

Acreage:  15.81 total – 5.2 disturbed 

Zoning:  I-1, Light Industrial w/ conditions 
   

Staff Recommendation:  Approval w/ contingencies 

P&Z Recommendation:  Agree w/ staff for Approval w/ contingencies as written 

   

Site Plan Criteria:  1. Whether the site plan is consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan for the City of Pooler and any other small area plans; 

2. Whether the site plan provides for adequate pedestrian and 
traffic access; 

3. Whether the site plan provides for adequate space for off-
street parking and loading/unloading zones where applicable; 

4. Whether the site plan provides for the appropriate location, 
arrangement, size, and design of buildings, lighting, and 
signs, giving due consideration to the applicable zoning 
district(s); 

5. Whether the site plan is appropriate in scale and relation to 
proposed use(s) to one another and those of adjacent 
properties; 

Page 92 of 294

http://www.pooler-ga.gov/


  

 

6. Whether the proposed development site is adequately served 
by existing or proposed public facilities, including roads, 
water, sanitary sewer, and stormwater infrastructure; 

7. Whether the proposed development site is adequately served 
by other public serves to account for current or projected 
needs; 

8. Whether the site plan provides adequate protection for 
adjacent properties against noise, glare, unsightliness, or 
other objectionable features; 

9. Whether the site plan provide adequate landscaping, including 
type and arrangement of trees, shrubs, and other 
landscaping, which may provide a visual or noise-deterring 
buffer between adjacent properties; and, 

10. Whether the site plan provides for improvements in 
accordance with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, 
including without limitation the Code of Ordinances for the 
City of Pooler. 

   

Conclusion:  The submitted site plan addresses the site plan approval criteria per 
the following: 

1. The site plan is consistent with the recommendations and policies 
of the 2040 Comprehensive Plan FLUM. 

2. The site plan complies generally with the provisions of Sec. 5(E) 
of App. A, Art. III for access and circulation; Sec. 11 of App. A, 
Art. V related to traffic impacts; and Sec. 2 of App. A, Art. III for 
traffic access, with the exceptions noted in the contingencies. 

3. The site plan complies with the provisions of Sec. 5(E) of App. A, 
Art. III for parking and loading standards. 

4. The site plan complies with the provisions Sec. 6 of Art. III, App. 
A. and Art. IV, App. A related to development standards for 
industrial development, including setbacks and height and 
Chapter 74, Art. VI for lighting. 

5. The site plan complies with the provisions of Sec. 27 of Art. III, 
App. A for buffer standards. 

6. The site plan complies generally with Sec. 606 of App. B, Art. VI; 
Chapter 74, Art. V; and Chapter 42, Art. V related to servicing 
of utilities and infrastructure, with the exceptions noted in the 
contingencies. 

7. The site is adequately served by any other public services for 
current or projected needs. 

Page 93 of 294



8. The site plan complies with the provisions of Sec. 27, Art. III,
App. A related to buffer and screening standards.

9. The site plan complies generally with the provisions of Chapter
42, Art. VI for tree and landscaping requirements, in general,
and related buffers, with the exceptions noted in the
contingencies.

10. The site plan generally complies with the provisions of the City
of Pooler Code of Ordinances, specifications, or standards, and
all other applicable laws, with the exceptions noted in the
contingencies.

As such, staff recommends approval of this site plan, subject to the 
following contingencies: 

• All development trees approved and bonded by Phase 1, not
being relocated, shall be brought into compliance before
scheduling the pre-construction meeting for Phase 2
development.

• All development trees being relocated from Phase 1 and planted
in the Phase 2 development area shall be installed prior to close-
out of the Phase 2 development.

• The maintenance of the existing stormwater management
facilities shall be completed, inspected, and approved by the City
of Pooler prior to scheduling the pre-construction meeting for
Phase 2 development. The maintenance shall include, but not be
limited to, the mitigation of sedimentation in ponds, outlets, and
stormwater conveyance features and complete stabilization of
the Phase 1 site. If other stormwater maintenance issues are
identified by the City of Pooler, these items shall also be
mitigated prior to pre-construction meeting.

• The parking surface/work yard associated with the Log Yard shall
be brought into compliance through the provision of an
acceptable gravel surface. The non-compliant parking
surface/work yard associated with Phase 1 shall initiate the
maintenance/compliance work within 6 months of the issuance
of the Site Plan Approval Letter. The surfacing of the Phase 1
site, bringing it into compliance, shall be completed and found
acceptable to the City of Pooler prior to close-out of the Phase 2
development.

Attachments: 1. Application and Submittal Documentation

2. Review Approval Letter

3. Site Map A

Page 94 of 294



  

 

4. Site Map B 

   

 

Page 95 of 294



  

 

Application and Submittal Documentation 

 

  

Page 96 of 294



Page 97 of 294



Page 98 of 294



Page 99 of 294



Page 100 of 294



Page 101 of 294



Page 102 of 294



  

 

Review Approval Letter 

  

Page 103 of 294



May 26th, 2023

Patrick J. Warner, P.E. 
Coleman Company
1480 Chatham Pkwy, Suite 100
Savannah, GA 31405

Dear Mr. Warner,

I am pleased to provide you with a recommendation for Approval of the site development plans 
for Barrow Drive Trailer Parking Extension, which is provided below.

Site Plan Review

Submittal Documents: Site Development Plans (Revised) May. 2023
Stormwater Management Report Aug. 2022
Stormwater Maintenance Agreement Aug. 2022
Wetland Determination Aug. 2022
ES&PC Plan Approval (GSWCC) Aug. 2022

We have reviewed the submittal for the referenced project. The plans were reviewed for general 
conformance with the requirements of the City of Pooler.  This review of the submitted site plans 
does not relieve the Owner, Designer and Contractor, or their representatives, from their 
individual or collective responsibility to comply with the applicable provisions of the local, State 
and Federal Laws and Engineering Standards, and all Development Codes that apply to the City 
of Pooler. This review is not to be construed as a check of every item in the plans or 
construction. Failure of this office to note any conflict with said requirements does not relieve 
the developer from compliance. 

The Owner and the Design Consultant are fully responsible for all testing and inspections of their 
project during construction, and they also are fully responsible that the project is constructed in 
accordance with the approved construction plans. The design engineer is solely responsible that 
their designs are in compliance to all Federal, State and City ordinances and regulations.  All the 
required testing data, plans and related material must be available to the City of Pooler, or 
assigned representation, during and after the construction is complete.

Page 104 of 294



To the best of our knowledge, it is our opinion that the plans are in general conformance with the 
City of Pooler’s applicable design standards, codes and ordinances. We hereby recommend 
Approval of the site development plans, subject to the following contingencies:

1. All development trees approved & bonded by Phase 1, not being relocated, shall be 
brought into compliance before scheduling the pre-construction meeting for phase 2 
development. 

2. All development trees being relocated from Phase 1, and planted in the phase 2 
development area shall be installed prior to the close-out of Phase 2 development. 

3. The maintenance of the existing stormwater management facilities shall be completed, 
inspected, and approved by the City of Pooler prior to scheduling the Pre-Construction 
Meeting for Phase 2 development. The Maintenance shall include, but not be limited to, 
the mitigation of sedimentation in ponds, outlets, and stormwater conveyance features 
and complete stabilization of the Phase 1 site. If other stormwater maintenance issues 
are identified by the City of Pooler, these items shall also be mitigated prior to pre-
construction meeting. 

4. The parking surface/work yard associated with the Log Yard shall be brought into 
compliance through the provision of an acceptable gravel surface. The non-compliant 
parking surface/work yard associated with Phase 1 shall initiate the maintenance/ 
compliance work within 6 months of the issuance of the Site Plan Approval Letter. The 
surfacing of the Phase 1 site, bringing it into compliance, shall be completed and found 
acceptable to the City of Pooler prior to close-out of the Phase 2 development.  

Please contact me if you have any questions. I can be reached via email or phone at 
tshoemaker@eomworx.com or (912) 445-0050 ext. 4400.

Sincerely,

Trevor Shoemaker 
Project Manager
EOM

CC: Brian Crooks, AICP; City Planner - City of Pooler
Kimberly Dyer, CFM; Zoning Administrator - City of Pooler
Liberto Chacon, PE; Sr. Vice President – EOM

Page 105 of 294

mailto:tshoemaker@eomworx.com


  

 

Site Map A 

  

Page 106 of 294



This map was created using geothinQ | www.geothinQ.com | Mapping Smart Land Decisions

Project #220714 -
Barrow Drive

Trailer Parking
Extension

06/07/2023

 Parcels

Page 107 of 294



  

 

Site Map B 

Page 108 of 294



Page 109 of 294



 

 
City of Pooler • 100 SW Hwy 80 • Pooler, Georgia 31322 • (912) 748-7261 

www.pooler-ga.gov 

MAYO R 
Reb ecca C . Benton 

 
CITY MANAGER 

Rob ert H. By rd, Jr.  
 

CITY ATTO RNEY 
Craig  Call 

CITY CO UNCIL 
M. Shannon Black 
Aaron C . Higgins  

Thom as  Hutchers on 
Stevie E. Wall 

John M. Wilcher 
Karen L. William s  

Tract W and Harmony Amenity – Site Development Plan 

Project Number:  #230384 

P&Z Meeting Date:  June 12, 2023 

Council Meeting Date:  June 20, 2023 

Applicant and Authorized Agent:  Neil McKenzie 

Location (Address):  Melody Drive / Crosscreek Drive 

Parcel (PIN):  51010 01046 

Acreage:  19 total and disturbed 

Zoning:  Jabot PUD 

   

Staff Recommendation:  Approval w/ contingencies 

P&Z Recommendation:  Agree w/ staff for Approval w/ contingencies as written 

   

Site Plan Criteria:  1. Whether the site plan is consistent with the Comprehensive 

Plan for the City of Pooler and any other small area plans; 

2. Whether the site plan provides for adequate pedestrian and 

traffic access; 

3. Whether the site plan provides for adequate space for off-

street parking and loading/unloading zones where applicable; 

4. Whether the site plan provides for the appropriate location, 

arrangement, size, and design of buildings, lighting, and 

signs, giving due consideration to the applicable zoning 

district(s); 

5. Whether the site plan is appropriate in scale and relation to 

proposed use(s) to one another and those of adjacent 

properties; 

Page 110 of 294

http://www.pooler-ga.gov/


  

 

6. Whether the proposed development site is adequately served 

by existing or proposed public facilities, including roads, 

water, sanitary sewer, and stormwater infrastructure; 

7. Whether the proposed development site is adequately served 

by other public serves to account for current or projected 

needs; 

8. Whether the site plan provides adequate protection for 

adjacent properties against noise, glare, unsightliness, or 

other objectionable features; 

9. Whether the site plan provide adequate landscaping, including 

type and arrangement of trees, shrubs, and other 

landscaping, which may provide a visual or noise-deterring 

buffer between adjacent properties; and, 

10. Whether the site plan provides for improvements in 

accordance with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, 

including without limitation the Code of Ordinances for the 

City of Pooler. 

   

Conclusion:  The submitted site plan addresses the site plan approval criteria per 

the following: 

1. The site plan is consistent with the recommendations and policies 

of the 2040 Comprehensive Plan FLUM. 

2. The site plan complies with the provisions of Sec. 5(E) of App. A, 

Art. III for access and circulation; Sec. 11 of App. A, Art. V 

related to traffic impacts; and Sec. 2 of App. A, Art. III for traffic 

access, as applicable. 

3. The site plan complies with the provisions of Sec. 5(E) of App. A, 

Art. III for parking and loading standards, as applicable. 

4. The site plan complies generally with the provisions of the Jabot 

PUD related to development standards for residential 

development, including setbacks and height, and Chapter 74, 

Art. VI for lighting, as applicable. 

5. The site plan complies with the provisions of Sec. 27 of Art. III, 

App. A for buffer standards, as applicable. 

6. The site plan complies with Sec. 606 of App. B, Art. VI; Chapter 

74, Art. V; and Chapter 42, Art. V related to servicing of utilities 

and infrastructure, as applicable. 

7. The site is adequately served by any other public services for 

current or projected needs, as applicable. 

Page 111 of 294



  

 

8. The site plan complies with the provisions of Sec. 27, Art. III, 

App. A related to buffer and screening standards, as applicable. 

9. The site plan complies generally with the provisions of Chapter 

42, Art. VI for tree and landscaping requirements, in general, 

and related buffers, with the exceptions noted in the 

contingencies, as applicable. 

10. The site plan complies generally with the provisions of the City 

of Pooler Code of Ordinances, specifications, or standards, and 

all other applicable laws, with the exceptions noted in the 

contingencies. 

As such, staff recommends approval of this site plan, subject to the 

following contingencies: 

• As it pertains to the Tract W plans for clearing & grading and 

landscaping, one of the following shall be required: 

o Mitigation for the significant trees identified as being 

removed shall be provided in the form of payment into the 

City of Pooler Tree Fund prior to the issuance of the LDA 

permit; OR, 

o Mitigation for the significant trees identified as being 

removed shall be provided in the form of planting under the 

forthcoming development permit associated with Tract W.  

The required planting shall be subject to all of the applicable 

requirements outlined in the City’s Ordinances and found as 

acceptable to the City Arborist and applicable City staff. 

   

Attachments:  1. Application and Submittal Documentation 

2. Review Approval Letter 

3. Site Map A 

4. Site Map B 

   

 

Page 112 of 294



  

 

Application and Submittal Documentation 

 

  

Page 113 of 294



Page 114 of 294



Page 115 of 294



Page 116 of 294



Page 117 of 294



Page 118 of 294



Page 119 of 294



Page 120 of 294



Page 121 of 294



S
a
v
a
n
n
a
h

, 
G

e
o

rg
ia

 |
 (

9
1
2
) 

2
0
0
-3

0
4
1
 |
 C

C
I-

S
A

V
.C

O
M

SHEET:

SCALE:
CHECKED BY:
DRAWN BY:
DATE:
JOB NUMBER:

AS NOTED

04/11/2023

REVISIONS:

©
 2

01
8 

CO
LE

M
AN

 C
O

M
PA

N
Y,

 IN
C.

   
   

   
 D

AT
E 

PL
O

TT
ED

: 6
/6

/2
02

3 
4:

15
 P

M
   

BY
: N

ei
l M

cK
en

zie
   

 D
RA

W
IN

G 
PA

TH
: Q

:\
20

20
\2

0-
59

3.
00

0\
DW

G\
Ci

vi
l\T

ra
ct

 W
_E

S&
PC

 P
la

n.
dw

g

5.31.23: ADD TREE PROT.

NOT TO SCALE
VICINITY MAP

VICINITY MAP (N.T.S.)

PROJECT ADDRESS:

PROJECT CITY, STATE:

OWNER/REPRESENTATIVE:

PROPERTY AREA:

DISTURBED AREA:

ZONING:

VERTICAL DATUM:

HORIZONTAL DATUM:

FLOOD ZONE:

WATER & SEWER PROVIDER:

PINS:

SURVEY PREPARED BY:

GEOTECHNICAL  BY:

ARCHITECT:

CONSTRUCTION EXIT LOCATION:

0 CROSSCREEK DRIVE

POOLER, GEORGIA

HARMONY PARTNERS, LLC

±19.00 AC

±19.00 AC

PUD

NAVD 88

NAD 83

AE,X

N/A

51010 01046

COLEMAN COMPANY, INC.

----

----

32.080, -81.247 & 32.084, -81.244

NPM
SCF

20-593.000

ES
&

PC
 P

LA
N

S 
FO

R

COVER SHEET

COV

TR
AC

T W
 TO

W
NH

O
M

ES
 EA

RL
Y

CL
EA

RIN
G

 &
 G

RA
DIN

G
LO

C
A

TE
D

 IN
 P

O
O

LE
R,

 G
EO

RG
IA

PR
EP

A
RE

D
 F

O
R 

HA
RM

O
N

Y 
PA

RT
N

ER
S,

 L
LC

PREPARED FOR
HARMONY PARTNERS, LLC

EROSION, SEDIMENT &
POLLUTION CONTROL PLANS

FOR
TRACT W TOWNHOMES

EARLY CLEARING &
GRADING

PROJECT SITE DATA SHEET INDEXREVISIONSVICINITY MAP (N.T.S.)

Sheet Number Sheet Title

COV COVER SHEET

CE1.0 INITIAL ES&PC PLAN

CE2.0 INTERM ES&PC PLAN

CE3.0 FINAL ES&PC PLAN

CE4.0 EROSION CONTROL DETAILS

CE4.1 EROSION CONTROL DETAILS

CE5.0 NPDES PERMIT NOTES

CE5.1 NPDES PERMIT NOTES

DESIGN PROFESSIONAL'S CREDENTIALS:
ENGINEER'S NAME (PRINTED):
GEORGIA PE NUMBER:
GSWCC LEVEL II CERTIFICATION NUMBER:

NEIL P McKENZIE, PE
PE036652
44944

Page 122 of 294



Sd1-S

Sd1-NS

Sd1-NS

Sd1-NS

Sd1-NS

Du
Ds1

Ds2

Co

Co

Sd1-S

Du
Ds1

Ds2

Du
Ds1

Ds2

Du
Ds1

Du
Ds1

Ds2

Du
Ds1

Ds2

Du

Ds2

Ds1

Ds1
Ds2

Du
Ds1

Ds2

Ds2

Du

S
a
v
a
n
n
a
h

, 
G

e
o

rg
ia

 |
 (

9
1
2
) 

2
0
0
-3

0
4
1
 |
 C

C
I-

S
A

V
.C

O
M

SHEET:

SCALE:
CHECKED BY:
DRAWN BY:
DATE:
JOB NUMBER:

AS NOTED

04/11/2023

REVISIONS:

©
 2

01
8 

CO
LE

M
AN

 C
O

M
PA

N
Y,

 IN
C.

   
   

   
 D

AT
E 

PL
O

TT
ED

: 6
/6

/2
02

3 
4:

00
 P

M
   

BY
: N

ei
l M

cK
en

zie
   

 D
RA

W
IN

G 
PA

TH
: Q

:\
20

20
\2

0-
59

3.
00

0\
DW

G\
Ci

vi
l\T

ra
ct

 W
_E

S&
PC

 P
la

n.
dw

g

5.31.23: ADD TREE PROT.

NPM
SCF

20-593.000

INITIAL ES&PC PLAN

CE1.0

ES
&

PC
 C

O
N

TR
O

L 
PL

A
N

S
 F

O
R

TR
AC

T W
 TO

W
NH

O
M

ES
 EA

RL
Y

CL
EA

RIN
G

 &
 G

RA
DIN

G
LO

C
A

TE
D

 IN
 P

O
O

LE
R,

 G
EO

RG
IA

PR
EP

A
RE

D
 F

O
R 

HA
RM

O
N

Y 
PA

RT
N

ER
S,

 L
LC

SOILS LEGEND

Ok OGEECHEE LOAMY FINE SAND

Oj OCILLA COMPLEX

Mn MASCOTTE SAND,
0 TO 2 PERCENT SLOPES

As ALBANY FINE SAND

Bp BARROW PITS

Cc CAPE FEAR SOILS

W WATER

SEQUENCE OF CONSTRUCTION
INITIAL PHASE:
1. INSTALL PERIMETER CONTROLS TO INCLUDE SILT FENCING AND CONSTRUCTION EXIT.

2. REMOVE DESIGNATED TREES AND CLEAR, GRUB AND GRADE SITE.

3. LIMIT CLEARING AND GRUBBING OF SITE TO ONLY AREAS NECESSARY FOR CONSTRUCTION AS SHOWN.

INTERMEDIATE PHASE:

1. MASS GRADE SITE TO FINAL ELEVATIONS.

FINAL PHASE:

1. STABILIZE ALL REMAINING DISTURBED AREAS.

2. REMOVE ALL TEMPORARY EROSION CONTROL MEASURES AND STABILIZE DISTURBED AREAS ACCORDINGLY.

DESIGN PROFESSIONAL'S CREDENTIALS:
ENGINEER'S NAME (PRINTED):
GEORGIA PE NUMBER:
GSWCC LEVEL II CERTIFICATION NUMBER:

NEIL P McKENZIE, PE
PE036652
44944

Page 123 of 294

AutoCAD SHX Text
N43°35'30"E

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
1533.65''

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
S44°35'46"E

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
158.95''

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
L1

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
L4

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
L6

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
L14

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
OK

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
CC

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
DOUBLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
ROW

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
SINGLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
ROW

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
SINGLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
ROW

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
SINGLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
ROW

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
SINGLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
ROW

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
LIMITS OF DISTURBANCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
LIMITS OF CONSTRUCTION

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
LIMITS OF CONSTRUCTION

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
LIMITS OF DISTURBANCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
LIMITS OF CONSTRUCTION 

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
LIMITS OF DISTURBANCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
LIMITS OF DISTURBANCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
LON.-81.247,  LAT. 32.082

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
LON.-81.244,  LAT. 32.084

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
DOUBLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
ROW

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
LIMITS OF CONSTRUCTION 

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
APPROXIMATE LOCATION OF FLOOD HAZARD LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
ZONE AE BFE:12' NAVD 88

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
100'

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
SCALE: 1"=50'

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
RATIONALE FOR SEDIMENT STORAGE IN SILT FENCE IN INITIAL PHASE: THE ONLY LAND THAT IS BEING DISTURBED IN THE INITIAL PHASE IS THE SILT FENCE AREA AND CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE, THUS THE INITIAL PHASE IS A LINEAR PROJECT AS DEFINED BY THE EROSION CONTROL MANUAL.  LINEAR PROJECTS CAN UTILIZE SILT FENCE FOR SEDIMENT STORAGE.  ALSO, THE DISTURBED AREA IN THE INITIAL PHASE IS LESS THAN 1 ACRE.  FINALLY, THE WAY THE EXISTING SITE IS CONFIGURED, MUCH MORE AREA WOULD NEED TO BE DISTURBED IN THE INITIAL PHASE TO INCLUDE SEDIMENT BASINS AND DIVERSION SWALES TO CONVEY WATER AND SEDIMENT TO SAID BASINS.  THUS, SEDIMENT STORAGE IN SILT FENCE IS THE BEST OPTION FOR SEDIMENT STORAGE IN THE INITIAL PHASE.  STONE CHECK DAMS TO BE CLEANED AS NECESSARY. SEDIMENT STORAGE REQUIREMENTS: : DISTURBED AREA (INITIAL):  8 FT WIDE DISTURBANCE FOR SILT FENCE INSTALLATION + CONSTRUCTION EXIT = 0.88 AC 8 FT WIDE DISTURBANCE FOR SILT FENCE INSTALLATION + CONSTRUCTION EXIT = 0.88 AC REQUIRED STORAGE (INITIAL): 0.88 AC X 67 C.Y./AC = 58.96 C.Y. X 27 C.F./C.Y. = 1,592 C.F. 0.88 AC X 67 C.Y./AC = 58.96 C.Y. X 27 C.F./C.Y. = 1,592 C.F. STORAGE PROVIDED (INITIAL): 5,263 LF SILT FENCE X 1.5 (H) X 1.5 (W/2) = 11,842 C.F.  5,263 LF SILT FENCE X 1.5 (H) X 1.5 (W/2) = 11,842 C.F.           STORAGE PROVIDED > REQUIRED STORAGE  STORAGE PROVIDED > REQUIRED STORAGE  11,842 C.F. > 1,592 C.F.; THEREFORE ADEQUATE STORAGE IS PROVIDED IN THE INITIAL PHASE. 



Sd1-S

Sd1-NS

Sd1-NS

Sd1-NS

Sd1-NS

Du
Ds1

Ds2

Co

Co

Sd1-S

Di

Di

Di

Di

Di

Du
Ds1

Ds2

Du
Ds1

Ds2 Du
Ds1

Du
Ds1

Ds2

Lv

Rt-B

St

Du
Ds1

Ds2

Ch-1

Ch-1

Ch-1
Ch-1

Ch-1

Du

Ds2

Ds1

Ds1
Ds2

Di

Du
Ds1

Ds2

Ds2

Du

S
a
v
a
n
n
a
h

, 
G

e
o

rg
ia

 |
 (

9
1
2
) 

2
0
0
-3

0
4
1
 |
 C

C
I-

S
A

V
.C

O
M

SHEET:

SCALE:
CHECKED BY:
DRAWN BY:
DATE:
JOB NUMBER:

AS NOTED

04/11/2023

REVISIONS:

©
 2

01
8 

CO
LE

M
AN

 C
O

M
PA

N
Y,

 IN
C.

   
   

   
 D

AT
E 

PL
O

TT
ED

: 6
/6

/2
02

3 
4:

00
 P

M
   

BY
: N

ei
l M

cK
en

zie
   

 D
RA

W
IN

G 
PA

TH
: Q

:\
20

20
\2

0-
59

3.
00

0\
DW

G\
Ci

vi
l\T

ra
ct

 W
_E

S&
PC

 P
la

n.
dw

g

5.31.23: ADD TREE PROT.

NPM
SCF

20-593.000

INTERM ES&PC PLAN

CE2.0

ES
&

PC
 C

O
N

TR
O

L 
PL

A
N

S
 F

O
R

TR
AC

T W
 TO

W
NH

O
M

ES
 EA

RL
Y

CL
EA

RIN
G

 &
 G

RA
DIN

G
LO

C
A

TE
D

 IN
 P

O
O

LE
R,

 G
EO

RG
IA

PR
EP

A
RE

D
 F

O
R 

HA
RM

O
N

Y 
PA

RT
N

ER
S,

 L
LC

SOILS LEGEND

Ok OGEECHEE LOAMY FINE SAND

Oj OCILLA COMPLEX

Mn MASCOTTE SAND,
0 TO 2 PERCENT SLOPES

As ALBANY FINE SAND

Bp BARROW PITS

Cc CAPE FEAR SOILS

W WATER

SEQUENCE OF CONSTRUCTION
INITIAL PHASE:
1. INSTALL PERIMETER CONTROLS TO INCLUDE SILT FENCING AND CONSTRUCTION EXIT.

2. REMOVE DESIGNATED TREES AND CLEAR, GRUB AND GRADE SITE.

3. LIMIT CLEARING AND GRUBBING OF SITE TO ONLY AREAS NECESSARY FOR CONSTRUCTION AS SHOWN.

INTERMEDIATE PHASE:

1. MASS GRADE SITE TO FINAL ELEVATIONS.

FINAL PHASE:

1. STABILIZE ALL REMAINING DISTURBED AREAS.

2. REMOVE ALL TEMPORARY EROSION CONTROL MEASURES AND STABILIZE DISTURBED AREAS ACCORDINGLY.

DESIGN PROFESSIONAL'S CREDENTIALS:
ENGINEER'S NAME (PRINTED):
GEORGIA PE NUMBER:
GSWCC LEVEL II CERTIFICATION NUMBER:

NEIL P McKENZIE, PE
PE036652
44944

Page 124 of 294

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
N43°35'30"E

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
1533.65''

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
S44°35'46"E

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
158.95''

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
L1

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
L4

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
L6

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
L14

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
OK

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
CC

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
DOUBLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
ROW

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
SINGLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
ROW

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
SINGLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
ROW

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
SINGLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
ROW

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
SINGLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
ROW

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
LIMITS OF CONSTRUCTION

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
LIMITS OF CONSTRUCTION

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
LIMITS OF CONSTRUCTION 

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
LON.-81.247,  LAT. 32.082

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
LON.-81.244,  LAT. 32.084

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
DOUBLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
ROW

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
TEMPORARY

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
DIVERSION

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
TEMPORARY

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
DIVERSION

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
TEMPORARY

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
DIVERSION

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
TEMPORARY

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
DIVERSION

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
TEMPORARY

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
DIVERSION

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
LEVEL SPREADER

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
POND A DATA: STATIC: 8.00 1 YR- 9.34 10 YR- 9.99 25 YR- 10.38 50 YR- 10.73 100 YR-11.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
APRON #

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
CY RIP RAP

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
STORMWATER DISCHARGE POINT & NPDES  SAMPLING LOCATION

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
V=2.00 FPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
V=2.00 FPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
V=2.00 FPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
V=2.00 FPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
V=2.00 FPS

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
BASIN A ±19.00 ACRES CN = 92 TC= 10 MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
TEMPORARY

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
DIVERSION

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
EMERGENCY  SPILLWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 16.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 16.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 16.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 16.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 16.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 16.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 16.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 16.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 16.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 16.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 15.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 15.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 15.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 15.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 15.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 15.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 15.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
LIMITS OF CONSTRUCTION 

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
DRAINAGE DIVIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
APPROXIMATE LOCATION OF FLOOD HAZARD LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
ZONE AE BFE:12' NAVD 88

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
CUT/FILL CALCULATION FOR FLOODPLAIN MITIGATION

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
100'

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
SCALE: 1"=50'

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
SEDIMENT STORAGE CALCULATIONS: [BASIN POND A]:             DRAINAGE AREA = ±19.00 AC DRAINAGE AREA = ±19.00 AC               19.00 AC X 67 CY/AC = 1273 CY X 27 CF/CY = 34,371 CF 19.00 AC X 67 CY/AC = 1273 CY X 27 CF/CY = 34,371 CF   L X W X D = SEDIMENT STORAGE REQUIRED (CF)                       PROVIDED: 85288/2= 42644*5=213220/27= 7897 CY                       PROVIDED 7897 CY > REQUIRED 1273 CY 

nmckenzie
Snapshot



Sd1-S

Sd1-NS

Sd1-NS

Sd1-NS

Sd1-NSDu
Ds3

Du
Ds3

Co

Co

Sd1-S

Du
Ds3

Lv

Rt-B

St

Du
Ds3

Ds3

Du
Ds3

Du

Du
Ds3

Ds3
Du

S
a
v
a
n
n
a
h

, 
G

e
o

rg
ia

 |
 (

9
1
2
) 

2
0
0
-3

0
4
1
 |
 C

C
I-

S
A

V
.C

O
M

SHEET:

SCALE:
CHECKED BY:
DRAWN BY:
DATE:
JOB NUMBER:

AS NOTED

04/11/2023

REVISIONS:

©
 2

01
8 

CO
LE

M
AN

 C
O

M
PA

N
Y,

 IN
C.

   
   

   
 D

AT
E 

PL
O

TT
ED

: 6
/6

/2
02

3 
4:

00
 P

M
   

BY
: N

ei
l M

cK
en

zie
   

 D
RA

W
IN

G 
PA

TH
: Q

:\
20

20
\2

0-
59

3.
00

0\
DW

G\
Ci

vi
l\T

ra
ct

 W
_E

S&
PC

 P
la

n.
dw

g

5.31.23: ADD TREE PROT.

NPM
SCF

20-593.000

FINAL ES&PC PLAN

CE3.0

ES
&

PC
 C

O
N

TR
O

L 
PL

A
N

S
 F

O
R

TR
AC

T W
 TO

W
NH

O
M

ES
 EA

RL
Y

CL
EA

RIN
G

 &
 G

RA
DIN

G
LO

C
A

TE
D

 IN
 P

O
O

LE
R,

 G
EO

RG
IA

PR
EP

A
RE

D
 F

O
R 

HA
RM

O
N

Y 
PA

RT
N

ER
S,

 L
LC

SOILS LEGEND

Ok OGEECHEE LOAMY FINE SAND

Oj OCILLA COMPLEX

Mn MASCOTTE SAND,
0 TO 2 PERCENT SLOPES

As ALBANY FINE SAND

Bp BARROW PITS

Cc CAPE FEAR SOILS

W WATER

SEQUENCE OF CONSTRUCTION
INITIAL PHASE:
1. INSTALL PERIMETER CONTROLS TO INCLUDE SILT FENCING AND CONSTRUCTION EXIT.

2. REMOVE DESIGNATED TREES AND CLEAR, GRUB AND GRADE SITE.

3. LIMIT CLEARING AND GRUBBING OF SITE TO ONLY AREAS NECESSARY FOR CONSTRUCTION AS SHOWN.

INTERMEDIATE PHASE:

1. MASS GRADE SITE TO FINAL ELEVATIONS.

FINAL PHASE:

1. STABILIZE ALL REMAINING DISTURBED AREAS.

2. REMOVE ALL TEMPORARY EROSION CONTROL MEASURES AND STABILIZE DISTURBED AREAS ACCORDINGLY.

DESIGN PROFESSIONAL'S CREDENTIALS:
ENGINEER'S NAME (PRINTED):
GEORGIA PE NUMBER:
GSWCC LEVEL II CERTIFICATION NUMBER:

NEIL P McKENZIE, PE
PE036652
44944

Page 125 of 294

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
N43°35'30"E

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
1533.65''

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
S44°35'46"E

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
158.95''

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
L1

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
L4

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
L6

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
L14

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
OK

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
CC

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
DOUBLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
ROW

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
SINGLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
ROW

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
SINGLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
ROW

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
SINGLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
ROW

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
SINGLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
ROW

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
LIMITS OF CONSTRUCTION

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
LIMITS OF CONSTRUCTION

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
LIMITS OF CONSTRUCTION 

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
LON.-81.247,  LAT. 32.082

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
LON.-81.244,  LAT. 32.084

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
DOUBLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
ROW

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
LEVEL SPREADER

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
POND A DATA: STATIC: 8.00 1 YR- 9.34 10 YR- 9.99 25 YR- 10.38 50 YR- 10.73 100 YR-11.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
APRON #

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
CY RIP RAP

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
STORMWATER DISCHARGE POINT & NPDES  SAMPLING LOCATION

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
BASIN A ±19.00 ACRES CN = 92 TC= 10 MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
EMERGENCY  SPILLWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 16.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 16.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 16.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 16.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 16.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 16.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 16.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 16.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 16.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 16.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 15.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 15.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 15.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 15.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 14.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 15.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 15.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
FIN. PAD.  ELEV. 15.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
LIMITS OF CONSTRUCTION 

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
DRAINAGE DIVIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
APPROXIMATE LOCATION OF FLOOD HAZARD LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
ZONE X

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
ZONE AE BFE:12' NAVD 88

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
CUT/FILL CALCULATION FOR FLOODPLAIN MITIGATION

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
100'

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
SCALE: 1"=50'

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
SEDIMENT STORAGE CALCULATIONS: [BASIN POND A]:             DRAINAGE AREA = ±19.00 AC DRAINAGE AREA = ±19.00 AC               19.00 AC X 67 CY/AC = 1273 CY X 27 CF/CY = 34,371 CF 19.00 AC X 67 CY/AC = 1273 CY X 27 CF/CY = 34,371 CF   L X W X D = SEDIMENT STORAGE REQUIRED (CF)                       PROVIDED: 85288/2= 42644*5=213220/27= 7897 CY                       PROVIDED 7897 CY > REQUIRED 1273 CY 

nmckenzie_1
Snapshot



98

1
2

3
4

5

6

7

8
9

10
11

12 17
86

87

88
899091

92
93

94
95

96
97

99
100

S
a
v
a
n
n
a
h

, 
G

e
o

rg
ia

 |
 (

9
1
2
) 

2
0
0
-3

0
4
1
 |
 C

C
I-

S
A

V
.C

O
M

SHEET:

SCALE:
CHECKED BY:
DRAWN BY:
DATE:
JOB NUMBER:

AS NOTED
JMG
MRC

05/12/23
20-593

REVISIONS:

©
 2

01
8 

CO
LE

M
AN

 C
O

M
PA

N
Y,

 IN
C.

   
   

   
 D

AT
E 

PL
O

TT
ED

: 8
/1

5/
20

18
 4

:4
4:

48
 P

M
   

BY
: N

ei
l M

cK
en

zie
   

 D
RA

W
IN

G 
PA

TH
: Q

:\
20

20
\2

0-
59

3.
00

0\
DW

G\
La

nd
sc

ap
e\

20
-5

93
 T

RE
E 

RE
M

O
VA

L 
PL

AN
.d

w
g

 L
A

N
D

SC
A

PE
 P

LA
N

 F
O

R

TR
AC

T W
LO

C
A

TE
D

 IN
 P

O
O

LE
R,

 G
EO

RG
IA

PR
EP

A
RE

D
 F

O
R 

HA
RM

O
N

Y 
PA

RT
N

ER
S,

 L
LC

.

TREE PROTECTION
PLAN

L1.0

CITY OF POOLER LANDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS
TOTAL AREA: 19.0 AC
TOTAL AREA OF DEVELOPMENT FOR TREE REPLACEMENT: 19.0 ACS
TREE REPLACEMENT REQUIREMENT: (15) TREES PER ACRE =15 x 19.0 = 285 TREES REQUIRED
TREES PROVIDED: TBD

SIGNIFICANT TREES TO BE REMOVED
MINIMUM 6" CAL. TREES USED FOR MITIGATION
973" CAL. TREES / 6"CAL. REPLACEMENT TREE MIN. = 162 TREES

TOTAL TREES REQUIRED
(285) TREES REQUIRED FOR SITE + (162) MITIGATION TREES = 447 TOTAL TREES

PLANTED TREES PROPOSED
TBD - 2" CAL. (MIN.) PREFERRED TREES
TBD - 6" CAL. (MIN.) PREFERRED MITIGATION TREES
TBD - PROPOSED TREES < (149) TREES REQUIRED
   6" CAL. MIN. TREES MUST BE PLANTED BEFORE 2" CAL. MIN. TREES ON SITE

REQUEST A PAYMENT TO THE CITY OF POOLER TREE BANK IN THE AMOUNT OF:
TBD - 6" CAL. MITIGATION TREES @ $2000 / TREE = TBD
TBD - 2" CAL TREES @ $475 / TREE = TBD
 TOTAL TREE FUND AMOUNT REQUESTED = TBD

PLANTED TREES SHALL BE: "HARDWOOD TREES NO LESS THAN TWO-INCH DBH AND A MINIMUM HEIGHT REQUIREMENT OF EIGHT FEET. THE TREES TO BE PLANTED MUST BE PREFERRED HARDWOODS THAT CONFORM TO THE AMERICAN STANDARD FOR NURSERY
STOCK. PLANTED OR RELOCATED TREES SHOULD BE APPROPRIATELY PLACED SO AS TO ENHANCE THE OVERALL LANDSCAPING OF THE SITE. ALL TREES PLANTED OR RELOCATED ON THE SITE MUST BE  PROTECTED AND NURTURED UNTIL FINAL INSPECTION
AND APPROVAL OF IMPROVEMENTS BY THE CITY BUILDING OFFICIAL." POOLER, GEORGIA, CODE OF ORDINANCES >> PART II - CODE OF ORDINANCES >> CHAPTER 42 - ENVIRONMENT >> ARTICLE VI. TREE PROTECTION >> SEC. 42-199. REPLACEMENT.

PREFERRED TREE LIST
FOR MULTI-FAMILY, COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL REQUIREMENT:
A RESIDENTIAL LOT SHALL HAVE A MINIMUM OF THREE PREFERRED TREES, OF WHICH ONE SHALL BE LOCATED IN THE FRONT OF THE RESIDENCE OR BUSINESS AND SELECTED FROM  THE LARGE OR MEDIUM TREE  SPECIES FROM THE PREFERRED LIST.

LARGE SPECIES: AMERICAN BEECH, AMERICAN ELM HYBRIDS, AMERICAN SYCAMORE, GREEN ASH,  WHITE ASH, BALD CYPRESS, POND CYPRESS, GINKGO (MALE), HICKORY SPECIES, SOUTHERN  MAGNOLIA, LIVE OAK, NUTTALL OAK, OVERCUP OAK, SHUMARD OAK,
WHITE OAK, WILLOW OAK, SOUTHERN RED OAK, AND YELLOW POPLAR.

MEDIUM SPECIES:  AMERICAN HOLLY, RED MAPLE, FLORIDA MAPLE, TRIDENT MAPLE, EASTERN  RED CEDAR

SMALL SPECIES: EASTERN REDBUD, ATTENUATA HYBRIDS HOLLY, YAUPON HOLLY, SWEETBAY, MAGNOLIA, FRINGE TREE

NO MORE THAN 30% OF SMALL  SPECIES CAN BE USED FOR TREE REPLACEMENT, MINIMUM 500 SF OF PLANTING AREA  PER TREE

 NO MORE THAN 30% OF REPLACEMENT TREES SHALL BE ONE SPECIES

IRRIGATION AND MAINTENANCE NOTES
· ADEQUATE WATER SOURCES FOR PROPOSED LANDSCAPING SHALL BE

PROVIDED FOR AT LEAST ONE YEAR.
· ANY TREE REQUIRED TO MEET MINIMUM TREE COVERAGE REQUIREMENTS THAT

IS LOST AFTER 12 MONTHS OF FINAL APPROVAL BY THE CITY BUILDING OFFICIAL
SHALL BE REPLACED WITH A TWO AND ONE-HALF-INCH DBH TREE OF THE SAME
TYPE.

SITE FOLLOWS LANDSCAPING GUIDELINE OF TANGER OUTLETS
· PLANTS SELECTED FROM THE OUTPARCEL DESIGN CONTROL GUIDELINES

MASTER PLANT LIST FOR THE OUTLET MALL OF POOLER, GEORGIA
· ALSO FOLLOWS THE TANGER OUTLETS SAVANNAH OUTPARCELS REGULATION

MANUAL
· ACCOMODATES THE CAMBRIA HOTEL REGULATIONS ALONG THE WAY

Page 126 of 294

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
#2110 S

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
#2111 S

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
#2112 S 

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
#2109 S 

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
#2108 S

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
#2107 NS

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
#2099 NS

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
#2106 S

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
#2100 NS

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
#2065 NS

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
#2066 S 

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
#2069 S

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
#2064 NS

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
#2071 NS

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
#2072 NS

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
#2070 S

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
#2063 NS

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
#2074 S

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
#2073 S

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
#2062 NS

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
#2061 S

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
#2060 NS

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
#2059 S

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
#2097 S 

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
#2095 S 

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
#2096 S 

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
#2098 S 

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
#2076 S 

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
#2075 S 

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
#2078 S 

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
#2077 S 

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
#2094 S

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
#2088 NS

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
#2089 S

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
#2087 S

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
#2090 S

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
#2092 S

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
#2091 S 

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
#2093 S 

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
#2085 S 

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
#2084 S 

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
#2080 S 

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
#2081 NS

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
#2082 S 

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
#2083 S 

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
TREE FENCE TYP

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
TREE TO BE REMOVED TYP.

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
TREE TO BE SAVED TYP.

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
#2079 S 

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
#2086 S 

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
100'

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
SCALE: 1"=50'

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
0'



S
a
v
a
n
n
a
h

, 
G

e
o

rg
ia

 |
 (

9
1
2
) 

2
0
0
-3

0
4
1
 |
 C

C
I-

S
A

V
.C

O
M

SHEET:

SCALE:
CHECKED BY:
DRAWN BY:
DATE:
JOB NUMBER:

AS NOTED
JMG
MRC

05/12/23
20-593

REVISIONS:

©
 2

01
8 

CO
LE

M
AN

 C
O

M
PA

N
Y,

 IN
C.

   
   

   
 D

AT
E 

PL
O

TT
ED

: 8
/1

5/
20

18
 4

:4
4:

48
 P

M
   

BY
: N

ei
l M

cK
en

zie
   

 D
RA

W
IN

G 
PA

TH
: Q

:\
20

20
\2

0-
59

3.
00

0\
DW

G\
La

nd
sc

ap
e\

20
-5

93
 T

RE
E 

RE
M

O
VA

L 
PL

AN
.d

w
g

 L
A

N
D

SC
A

PE
 P

LA
N

 F
O

R

TR
AC

T W
LO

C
A

TE
D

 IN
 P

O
O

LE
R,

 G
EO

RG
IA

PR
EP

A
RE

D
 F

O
R 

HA
RM

O
N

Y 
PA

RT
N

ER
S,

 L
LC

.

L1.1

EXISTING
CONDITIONS

Page 127 of 294



  

 

Review Approval Letter 

  

Page 128 of 294



June 7th, 2023

Neil P. McKenzie, P.E.
Coleman Company
1480 Chatham Parkway, Suite 100
Savannah, GA 31405

Dear Mr. McKenzie,

I am pleased to provide you with a recommendation for Conditional Approval of the site 
development plans for Tract W – Harmony Amenity (Revised Plan), which is provided below.

Site Plan Review

Submittal Documents: Site Plan – Tract W (C&G Plan)         Jun. 2023
Tree Survey Report         Apr. 2023
Site Plan – Harmony Amenity (Revised Plan)        Mar. 2023
Stormwater Management Plan         Apr. 2023
GSWCC Approval (Tract W)           Mar. 2023
Project Narrative        Mar. 2023

We have reviewed the submittal for the referenced project. The plans were reviewed for general 
conformance with the requirements of the City of Pooler.  This review of the submitted site plans 
does not relieve the Owner, Designer and Contractor, or their representatives, from their 
individual or collective responsibility to comply with the applicable provisions of the local, State 
and Federal Laws and Engineering Standards, and all Development Codes that apply to the City 
of Pooler. This review is not to be construed as a check of every item in the plans or 
construction. Failure of this office to note any conflict with said requirements does not relieve 
the developer from compliance. 

The Owner and the Design Consultant are fully responsible for all testing and inspections of their 
project during construction, and they also are fully responsible that the project is constructed in 
accordance with the approved construction plans. The design engineer is solely responsible that 
their designs are in compliance to all Federal, State and City ordinances and regulations.  All the 
required testing data, plans and related material must be available to the City of Pooler, or 
assigned representation, during and after the construction is complete.

Page 129 of 294



To the best of our knowledge, it is our opinion that the plans are in general conformance with the 
City of Pooler’s applicable design standards, codes and ordinances. We hereby recommend 
Conditional Approval of the site development plans, subject to the following.

1. As it pertains to the Tract W plans for clearing & grading and landscaping, one of the 
following shall be required:

a. Mitigation for the significant trees identified as being removed shall be provided 
in the form of payment into the City of Pooler tree fund prior to the issuance of 
the LDA Permit. OR

b. Mitigation for the significant trees identified as being removed shall be provided 
in the form of planting under the forthcoming development permit associated with 
this tract of land. The required planting shall be subject to the all of the applicable 
requirements outlined in the City’s Ordinance and found as acceptable to the City 
Arborist and applicable City Staff.  

Please contact me if you have any questions. I can be reached via email or phone at 
tshoemaker@eomworx.com or (912) 445-0050 ext. 4400.

Sincerely,

Trevor Shoemaker 
Project Manager
EOM

CC: Brian Crooks, AICP; City Planner - City of Pooler
Kimberly Dyer, CFM; Zoning Administrator - City of Pooler
Liberto Chacon, PE; Sr. Vice President – EOM

Page 130 of 294

mailto:tshoemaker@eomworx.com


  

 

Site Map A 

  

Page 131 of 294



This map was created using geothinQ | www.geothinQ.com | Mapping Smart Land Decisions

Project # 230384
- Tract W /

Harmony Amenity
06/08/2023

Page 132 of 294



  

 

Site Map B 

Page 133 of 294



Page 134 of 294



 

 
City of Pooler • 100 SW Hwy 80 • Pooler, Georgia 31322 • (912) 748-7261 

www.pooler-ga.gov 

MAYO R 
Reb ecca C . Benton 

 
CITY MANAGER 

Rob ert H. By rd, Jr.  
 

CITY ATTO RNEY 
Craig  Call 

CITY CO UNCIL 
M. Shannon Black 
Aaron C . Higgins  

Thom as  Hutchers on 
Stevie E. Wall 

John M. Wilcher 
Karen L. William s  

2101 Travis Field Rd (Dean Forest Truck Yard) – Site Development Plan 

Project Number:  #230243 

P&Z Meeting Date:  June 12, 2023 

Council Meeting Date:  June 20, 2023 

Applicant and Authorized Agent:  Marc Liverman 

Location (Address):  2101 Travis Field Rd 

Parcel (PIN):  50986 01003 

Acreage:  14.62 total – 14.3 disturbed 

Zoning:  I-1, Light Industrial 

   

Staff Recommendation:  Approval 

P&Z Recommendation:  Agree w/ staff for Approval 

   

Site Plan Criteria:  1. Whether the site plan is consistent with the Comprehensive 

Plan for the City of Pooler and any other small area plans; 

2. Whether the site plan provides for adequate pedestrian and 

traffic access; 

3. Whether the site plan provides for adequate space for off-

street parking and loading/unloading zones where applicable; 

4. Whether the site plan provides for the appropriate location, 

arrangement, size, and design of buildings, lighting, and 

signs, giving due consideration to the applicable zoning 

district(s); 

5. Whether the site plan is appropriate in scale and relation to 

proposed use(s) to one another and those of adjacent 

properties; 

Page 135 of 294

http://www.pooler-ga.gov/


  

 

6. Whether the proposed development site is adequately served 

by existing or proposed public facilities, including roads, 

water, sanitary sewer, and stormwater infrastructure; 

7. Whether the proposed development site is adequately served 

by other public serves to account for current or projected 

needs; 

8. Whether the site plan provides adequate protection for 

adjacent properties against noise, glare, unsightliness, or 

other objectionable features; 

9. Whether the site plan provide adequate landscaping, including 

type and arrangement of trees, shrubs, and other 

landscaping, which may provide a visual or noise-deterring 

buffer between adjacent properties; and, 

10. Whether the site plan provides for improvements in 

accordance with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, 

including without limitation the Code of Ordinances for the 

City of Pooler. 

   

Conclusion:  The submitted site plan addresses the site plan approval criteria per 

the following: 

1. The site plan is consistent with the recommendations and policies 

of the 2040 Comprehensive Plan FLUM. 

2. The site plan complies with the provisions of Sec. 5(E) of App. A, 

Art. III for access and circulation; Sec. 11 of App. A, Art. V 

related to traffic impacts; and Sec. 2 of App. A, Art. III for traffic 

access. 

3. The site plan complies with the provisions of Sec. 5(E) of App. A, 

Art. III for parking and loading standards. 

4. The site plan complies with the provisions Sec. 6 of App. A, Art. 

III, and Art. IV, App. A related to development standards for 

industrial development, including setbacks and height and 

Chapter 74, Art. VI for lighting, as well as the provisions of Sec. 

30 of App. A, Art. III related to trailer parking yards. 

5. The site plan complies with the provisions of Sec. 27 of Art. III, 

App. A for buffer standards. 

6. The site plan complies with Sec. 606 of App. B, Art. VI; Chapter 

74, Art. V; and Chapter 42, Art. V related to servicing of utilities 

and infrastructure. 

7. The site is adequately served by any other public services for 

current or projected needs. 

Page 136 of 294



  

 

8. The site plan complies with the provisions of Sec. 27, Art. III, 

App. A related to buffer and screening standards. 

9. The site plan complies with the provisions of Chapter 42, Art. VI 

for tree and landscaping requirements, in general, and related 

buffers. 

10. The site plan complies with the provisions of the City of Pooler 

Code of Ordinances, specifications, or standards, and all other 

applicable laws. 

As such, staff recommends approval of this site plan. 

   

Attachments:  1. Application and Submittal Documentation 

2. Review Approval Letter 

3. Site Map A 

4. Site Map B 

   

 

Page 137 of 294



  

 

Application and Submittal Documentation 

 

  

Page 138 of 294



Page 139 of 294



Page 140 of 294



Page 141 of 294



Page 142 of 294



2101 TRAVIS
PARTNERS, LLC

PROJECT:

REVISIONS

February 2023

PROJECT NUMBER:

I080-101

TRAVIS FIELD ROAD
TRUCK YARD

AA/MJS

Drawn by: QC by:Checked by:

770-594-5998
www.atlcc.net

Roswell, GA
Savannah, GA
Knoxville, TN

A T L A N T I C  C O A S T

C O N S U L T I N G ,  I N C .

P.I.N. 5-0986-01-003
DISTRICT 050-POOLER

CHATHAM COUNTY, GA

720 FAYETTE ST.

STE 720

CONSHOHOCKEN, PA 19428

215-667-6830

0. Issued for Permitting                 02/09/2023

1. Revised Per City Comments       04/24/2023

C-101

EXISTING
CONDITIONS AND
DEMOLITION PLAN

N

NOTES:

80 0

SCALE (IN FEET)

160 3208040

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

2. Revised Per City Comments       06/07/2023

Page 143 of 294



2101 TRAVIS
PARTNERS, LLC

PROJECT:

REVISIONS

February 2023

PROJECT NUMBER:

I080-101

TRAVIS FIELD ROAD
TRUCK YARD

AA/MJS

Drawn by: QC by:Checked by:

770-594-5998
www.atlcc.net

Roswell, GA
Savannah, GA
Knoxville, TN

A T L A N T I C  C O A S T

C O N S U L T I N G ,  I N C .

P.I.N. 5-0986-01-003
DISTRICT 050-POOLER

CHATHAM COUNTY, GA

720 FAYETTE ST.

STE 720

CONSHOHOCKEN, PA 19428

215-667-6830

0. Issued for Permitting                 02/09/2023

1. Revised Per City Comments       04/24/2023

C-200

N

NOTES:PARKING TABLE

OVERALL PAVING,
GRADING, AND
DRAINAGE PLAN

80 0

SCALE (IN FEET)

160 3208040

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

Page 144 of 294



2101 TRAVIS
PARTNERS, LLC

PROJECT:

REVISIONS

February 2023

PROJECT NUMBER:

I080-101

TRAVIS FIELD ROAD
TRUCK YARD

AA/MJS

Drawn by: QC by:Checked by:

770-594-5998
www.atlcc.net

Roswell, GA
Savannah, GA
Knoxville, TN

A T L A N T I C  C O A S T

C O N S U L T I N G ,  I N C .

P.I.N. 5-0986-01-003
DISTRICT 050-POOLER

CHATHAM COUNTY, GA

720 FAYETTE ST.

STE 720

CONSHOHOCKEN, PA 19428

215-667-6830

0. Issued for Permitting                 02/09/2023

1. Revised Per City Comments       04/24/2023

C-301

SITE AND UTILITY
PLAN A

N

NOTES:

M
A

T
C

H
L
IN

E
: 
SE

E
 S

H
E
E
T

 C
-3

0
2

40 0

SCALE (IN FEET)

80 1604020

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

Page 145 of 294



2101 TRAVIS
PARTNERS, LLC

PROJECT:

REVISIONS

February 2023

PROJECT NUMBER:

I080-101

TRAVIS FIELD ROAD
TRUCK YARD

AA/MJS

Drawn by: QC by:Checked by:

770-594-5998
www.atlcc.net

Roswell, GA
Savannah, GA
Knoxville, TN

A T L A N T I C  C O A S T

C O N S U L T I N G ,  I N C .

P.I.N. 5-0986-01-003
DISTRICT 050-POOLER

CHATHAM COUNTY, GA

720 FAYETTE ST.

STE 720

CONSHOHOCKEN, PA 19428

215-667-6830

0. Issued for Permitting                 02/09/2023

1. Revised Per City Comments       04/24/2023

C-302

SITE AND UTILITY
PLAN B

N

M
A

T
C

H
L
IN

E
: 
SE

E
 S

H
E
E
T

 C
-3

0
1

NOTES:

40 0

SCALE (IN FEET)

80 1604020

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

Page 146 of 294



2101 TRAVIS
PARTNERS, LLC

PROJECT:

REVISIONS

February 2023

PROJECT NUMBER:

I080-101

TRAVIS FIELD ROAD
TRUCK YARD

AA/MJS

Drawn by: QC by:Checked by:

770-594-5998
www.atlcc.net

Roswell, GA
Savannah, GA
Knoxville, TN

A T L A N T I C  C O A S T

C O N S U L T I N G ,  I N C .

P.I.N. 5-0986-01-003
DISTRICT 050-POOLER

CHATHAM COUNTY, GA

720 FAYETTE ST.

STE 720

CONSHOHOCKEN, PA 19428

215-667-6830

0. Issued for Permitting                 02/09/2023

1. Revised Per City Comments       04/24/2023

LS-101

LANDSCAPE PLAN

N

NOTES:

80 0

SCALE (IN FEET)

160 3208040

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

LEGENDLANDSCAPE CALCULATIONS:

·
·

·
·

·

·

TREE AND LANDSCAPE SCHEDULE

2. Revised Per City Comments       06/07/2023

Page 147 of 294



  

 

Review Approval Letter 

  

Page 148 of 294



June 8th, 2023

Marc A. Liverman, P.E.
Atlantic Coast Consulting
7 E Congress St
Savannah, GA 31401

Dear Mr. Liverman,

I am pleased to provide you with a recommendation for Conditional Approval of the site 
development plans for Dean Forest Truck Yard (2101 Travis Field Rd), which is provided below.

Site Plan Review

Submittal Documents: Site Development Plans       Jun. 2023
Stormwater Management Report     May 2023
Stormwater Maintenance Agreement     May 2023
Floodway No-Rise Certification     Jun. 2023
GSWCC Approval of ESPC Plans     May 2023
Chatham County On-Site Sewage System Approval     Jun. 2023

We have reviewed the submittal for the referenced project. The plans were reviewed for general 
conformance with the requirements of the City of Pooler.  This review of the submitted site plans 
does not relieve the Owner, Designer and Contractor, or their representatives, from their 
individual or collective responsibility to comply with the applicable provisions of the local, State 
and Federal Laws and Engineering Standards, and all Development Codes that apply to the City 
of Pooler. This review is not to be construed as a check of every item in the plans or 
construction. Failure of this office to note any conflict with said requirements does not relieve 
the developer from compliance. 

The Owner and the Design Consultant are fully responsible for all testing and inspections of their 
project during construction, and they also are fully responsible that the project is constructed in 
accordance with the approved construction plans. The design engineer is solely responsible that 
their designs are in compliance to all Federal, State and City ordinances and regulations.  All the 
required testing data, plans and related material must be available to the City of Pooler, or 
assigned representation, during and after the construction is complete.

Page 149 of 294



To the best of our knowledge, it is our opinion that the plans are in general conformance with the 
City of Pooler’s applicable design standards, codes and ordinances. We hereby recommend 
Conditional Approval of the site development plans, subject to the following condition:

1. The City of Pooler shall be in receipt of the Approved Permit for the proposed water 
well, issued by Chatham County Health Department.  

Please contact me if you have any questions. I can be reached via email or phone at 
tshoemaker@eomworx.com or (912) 445-0050 ext. 4400.

Sincerely,

Trevor Shoemaker 
Project Manager
EOM

CC: Brian Crooks, AICP; City Planner - City of Pooler
Kimberly Dyer, CFM; Zoning Administrator - City of Pooler
Liberto Chacon, PE; Sr. Vice President – EOM

Page 150 of 294

mailto:tshoemaker@eomworx.com


  

 

Site Map A 

  

Page 151 of 294



This map was created using geothinQ | www.geothinQ.com | Mapping Smart Land Decisions

Project #230243 -
2101 Travis Field

Rd
06/07/2023

 Parcels

Page 152 of 294



  

 

Site Map B 

Page 153 of 294



Page 154 of 294



 

 
City of Pooler • 100 SW Hwy 80 • Pooler, Georgia 31322 • (912) 748-7261 

www.pooler-ga.gov 

MAYO R 
Reb ecca C . Benton 

 
CITY MANAGER 

Rob ert H. By rd, Jr.  
 

CITY ATTO RNEY 
Craig  Call 

CITY CO UNCIL 
M. Shannon Black 
Aaron C . Higgins  

Thom as  Hutchers on 
Stevie E. Wall 

John M. Wilcher 
Karen L. William s  

Towne Place Pooler – Site Development Plan 

Project Number:  #230627 

P&Z Meeting Date:  June 12, 2023 

Council Meeting Date:  June 20, 2023 

Applicant and Authorized Agent:  Jay Maupin / Krishan Gandhi 

Location (Address):  Half Moon Way 

Parcel (PIN):  51009 01119 

Acreage:  11.88 total – 2.25 disturbed 

Zoning:  PUD (Savannah Quarters Phase 1) 

   

Staff Recommendation:  Approval w/ contingencies 

P&Z Recommendation:  Agree w/ staff for Approval w/contingencies as written 

   

Site Plan Criteria:  1. Whether the site plan is consistent with the Comprehensive 

Plan for the City of Pooler and any other small area plans; 

2. Whether the site plan provides for adequate pedestrian and 

traffic access; 

3. Whether the site plan provides for adequate space for off-

street parking and loading/unloading zones where applicable; 

4. Whether the site plan provides for the appropriate location, 

arrangement, size, and design of buildings, lighting, and 

signs, giving due consideration to the applicable zoning 

district(s); 

5. Whether the site plan is appropriate in scale and relation to 

proposed use(s) to one another and those of adjacent 

properties; 

Page 155 of 294

http://www.pooler-ga.gov/


  

 

6. Whether the proposed development site is adequately served 

by existing or proposed public facilities, including roads, 

water, sanitary sewer, and stormwater infrastructure; 

7. Whether the proposed development site is adequately served 

by other public serves to account for current or projected 

needs; 

8. Whether the site plan provides adequate protection for 

adjacent properties against noise, glare, unsightliness, or 

other objectionable features; 

9. Whether the site plan provide adequate landscaping, including 

type and arrangement of trees, shrubs, and other 

landscaping, which may provide a visual or noise-deterring 

buffer between adjacent properties; and, 

10. Whether the site plan provides for improvements in 

accordance with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, 

including without limitation the Code of Ordinances for the 

City of Pooler. 

   

Conclusion:  The submitted site plan addresses the site plan approval criteria per 

the following: 

1. The site plan is consistent with the recommendations and policies 

of the 2040 Comprehensive Plan for the FLUM designation and 

Character Area. 

2. The site plan complies generally with the provisions of the 

Savannah Quarters PUD (Phase 1) for access and circulation; 

Sec. 11 of App. A, Art. V related to traffic impacts; and Sec. 2 of 

App. A, Art. III for traffic access, with the exceptions noted in 

the contingencies. 

3. The site plan complies with the provisions of the Savannah 

Quarters PUD (Phase 1) and Sec. 5(D) of App. A, Art. III for 

parking and loading standards. 

4. The site plan complies with the provisions of the Savannah 

Quarters PUD (Phase 1) related to development standards for 

commercial development, including setbacks, building 

separation, and height and Chapter 74, Art. VI for lighting. 

5. The site plan complies with the provisions of the Savannah 

Quarters PUD (Phase 1) related to the PUD master plan for 

location of uses/development areas, development standards for 

commercial development, and buffer standards. 

6. The site plan complies generally with Sec. 606 of App. B, Art. VI; 

Chapter 74, Art. V; and Chapter 42, Art. V related to servicing 

Page 156 of 294



of utilities and infrastructure, with the exceptions noted in the 

contingencies. 

7. The site is adequately served by any other public services for

current or projected needs.

8. The site plan complies with the provisions of the Savannah

Quarters PUD (Phase 1) related to buffer and screening

standards.

9. The site plan complies with the provisions of the Savannah

Quarters PUD (Phase 1) and Chapter 42, Art. VI for tree and

landscaping requirements, in general, and related buffers.

10. The site plan generally complies with the provisions of the City

of Pooler Code of Ordinances, specifications, or standards, and

all other applicable laws, with the exceptions noted in the

contingencies.

As such, staff recommends approval of this site plan, subject to the 

following contingencies: 

• A site plan shall be submitted to the City of Pooler prior to the 
pre-construction meeting, which includes the following 
modifications:

o The 8-inch diameter sewer line coming from the building shall 
not be tied into the grease trap’s sampling manhole. Plans 
shall show this sewer line tying into the on-site system, at a 
location downstream of the sampling manhole.

o Remove the name of the private access drive that is currently 
identified as Hospitality Drive.

o Provide stop signs located at all locations where stop bars are 
shown (all driveways and parking lot).

o Delineate the required 35-ft building setback, which shall be 
measured from the road centerline.

• The City of Pooler shall be in receipt of the GSWCC Approval of 
the revised Erosion, Sedimentation, and Erosion Control Plans 
prior to the pre-construction meeting.

• The proposed traffic improvements, as demonstrated in the 
plans, are designed to achieve the minimum standard traffic 
operations. These improvements are being permitted by two 
separate projects and both must be constructed and accepted by 
the City prior to close out and issuance of a Certificate of 
Occupancy for either. The applicable traffic improvements are as 
follows:

Page 157 of 294



  

 

o A westbound right turn deceleration lane on Blue Moon 

Crossing being permitted and constructed by ‘Walk On’s & 

Vet Center’. 

o A modification to the southbound approach at Half Moon Way 

& Blue Moon Crossing intersection is being proposed under 

this project (Towne Place Pooler). This modification includes 

a right turn lane and thru/left turn lane on the south bound 

approach to the intersection. 

   

Attachments:  1. Application and Submittal Documentation 

2. Review Approval Letter 

3. Site Map A 

4. Site Map B 

   

 

Page 158 of 294



  

 

Application and Submittal Documentation 

 

  

Page 159 of 294



Page 160 of 294



Page 161 of 294



Page 162 of 294



Page 163 of 294



Page 164 of 294



Page 165 of 294



Page 166 of 294



Page 167 of 294



  

 

Review Approval Letter 

  

Page 168 of 294



May 26th, 2023

Jay A. Maupin, P.E. 
Maupin Engineering
114 W 42nd St
Savannah, GA 31401

Dear Mr. Maupin,

I am pleased to provide you with a recommendation for Conditional Approval of the site development 
plans for Towne Place Pooler, which is provided below.

Site Plan Review

Submittal Documents: Site Development Plans            May. 2023
Geotechnical Report                    Aug. 2022
Stormwater Management Report                     Apr. 2023
Stormwater Maintenance Agreement                    Aug. 2022
Traffic Impact Analysis (Revised)                     Sep. 2022
Water Distribution System Report                     Jun. 2022

We have reviewed the submittal for the referenced project. The plans were reviewed for general 
conformance with the requirements of the City of Pooler.  This review of the submitted site plans does not 
relieve the Owner, Designer and Contractor, or their representatives, from their individual or collective 
responsibility to comply with the applicable provisions of the local, State and Federal Laws and 
Engineering Standards, and all Development Codes that apply to the City of Pooler. This review is not to 
be construed as a check of every item in the plans or construction. Failure of this office to note any 
conflict with said requirements does not relieve the developer from compliance. 

The Owner and the Design Consultant are fully responsible for all testing and inspections of their project 
during construction, and they also are fully responsible that the project is constructed in accordance with 
the approved construction plans. The design engineer is solely responsible that their designs are in 
compliance to all Federal, State and City ordinances and regulations.  All the required testing data, plans 
and related material must be available to the City of Pooler, or assigned representation, during and after 
the construction is complete.

To the best of our knowledge, it is our opinion that the plans are in general conformance with the City of 
Pooler’s applicable design standards, codes and ordinances. We hereby recommend Conditional Approval 
of the site development plans, subject to the following conditions & contingencies:

Page 169 of 294



Conditions for Approval:

1. A site plan shall be submitted to the City of Pooler, which includes the following modifications:
a. Per the City of Pooler Assistant Director of Public Works – The 8-inch diameter sewer 

line coming from the building shall not be tied into the grease trap’s sampling manhole. 
Plans shall show this sewer line tying into the on-site system, at a location downstream of 
the sampling manhole. 

b. Per the City of Pooler Fire Department – Remove the name of the private access drive 
that is currently identified as Hospitality Drive. 

c. Per the City of Pooler Streets Superintendent – Provide stop signs located at all locations 
where stop bars are shown (all driveways and parking lot).

d. Per the City of Pooler Director of Planning and Development – Delineate the required 35-
ft building setback. This setback shall be measured from the centerline of adjacent roads.

2. The City of Pooler shall be in receipt of the GSWCC Approval of the revised Erosion, 
Sedimentation, and Erosion Control Plans. 

Contingencies for Project Close Out:

1. The proposed traffic improvements, as demonstrated in the plans, are designed to achieve the 
minimum standard traffic operations. These improvements are being permitted by two separate 
projects and both must be constructed and accepted by the City prior to close out. The 
applicable traffic improvements are as follows:

a. A westbound right turn deceleration lane on Blue Moon X’ing being permitted and 
constructed by ‘Walk On’s & Vet Center’.

b. A modification to the southbound approach at Half Moon Way & Blue Moon X’ing 
intersection is being proposed under this project (Towne Place Pooler). This 
modification includes a right turn lane and thru/left turn lane on the south bound 
approach to the intersection

Please contact me if you have any questions. I can be reached via email or phone at 
tshoemaker@eomworx.com or (912) 445-0050 ext. 4400.

Sincerely,

Trevor Shoemaker 
Project Manager
EOM

CC: Brian Crooks, AICP; City Planner - City of Pooler
Kimberly Dyer, CFM; Zoning Administrator - City of Pooler
Liberto Chacon, PE; Sr. Vice President – EOM

Page 170 of 294

mailto:tshoemaker@eomworx.com


  

 

Site Map A 

  

Page 171 of 294



This map was created using geothinQ | www.geothinQ.com | Mapping Smart Land Decisions

Project #230627 -
Towne Place

Pooler
06/07/2023

 Parcels

Page 172 of 294



  

 

Site Map B 

Page 173 of 294



Page 174 of 294



Page 175 of 294



Page 176 of 294



Page 177 of 294



Page 178 of 294



Page 179 of 294



Page 180 of 294



Page 181 of 294



Page 182 of 294



Page 183 of 294



Page 184 of 294



Page 185 of 294



Page 186 of 294



Page 187 of 294



Page 188 of 294



Page 189 of 294



Page 190 of 294



Page 191 of 294



Page 192 of 294



Page 193 of 294



Page 194 of 294



Page 195 of 294



Page 196 of 294



Page 197 of 294



Page 198 of 294



Page 199 of 294



Page 200 of 294



Page 201 of 294



Page 202 of 294



Page 203 of 294



Page 204 of 294



Page 205 of 294



Page 206 of 294



Page 207 of 294



Page 208 of 294



Page 209 of 294



Page 210 of 294



Page 211 of 294



Page 212 of 294



Page 213 of 294



Page 214 of 294



Page 215 of 294



Page 216 of 294



Page 217 of 294



Page 218 of 294



Page 219 of 294



Page 220 of 294



Page 221 of 294



Page 222 of 294



Page 223 of 294



Page 224 of 294



Page 225 of 294



Page 226 of 294



Page 227 of 294



Page 228 of 294



Page 229 of 294



Page 230 of 294



Page 231 of 294



Page 232 of 294



Page 233 of 294



Page 234 of 294



Page 235 of 294



Page 236 of 294



Page 237 of 294



Page 238 of 294



Page 239 of 294



Page 240 of 294



Page 241 of 294



Page 242 of 294



Page 243 of 294



Page 244 of 294



Page 245 of 294



Page 246 of 294



Page 247 of 294



Page 248 of 294



Page 249 of 294



Page 250 of 294



Page 251 of 294



Page 252 of 294



Page 253 of 294



Page 254 of 294



Page 255 of 294



Page 256 of 294



Page 257 of 294



Page 258 of 294



Page 259 of 294



Page 260 of 294



Page 261 of 294



Page 262 of 294



Page 263 of 294



Page 264 of 294



Page 265 of 294



Page 266 of 294



Page 267 of 294



Page 268 of 294



Page 269 of 294



Page 270 of 294



Page 271 of 294



Page 272 of 294



Page 273 of 294



Page 274 of 294



Page 275 of 294



Page 276 of 294



Page 277 of 294



Page 278 of 294



Page 279 of 294



 

 
City of Pooler • 100 SW Hwy 80 • Pooler, Georgia 31322 • (912) 748-7261 

www.pooler-ga.gov 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
Date:  May 22, 2023 

To:   Mayor and Council 

From:  Chris Lightle, Finance Officer   

Subject: Property Tax Millage Rate for 2023 

Cc:  Robert H. Byrd, City Manager 

  Kiley Fusco, City Clerk 

 

To meet Chatham County’s reporting requirements concerning local tax digests, we will need 

to set our 2023 millage rate at the June 20, 2023 council meeting.   

I have attached Form PT32.1 Computation of Millage Rate Rollback and Percentage Increase 
in Property Taxes – 2023.  I have also attached the five-year history that is required to be 

advertised one week prior to certification of the millage rate. I have prepared the five-year 
levy history using a millage rate of 3.780. Last year’s millage rate was 4.263.  The rollback 

millage rate is 3.780. 

Using a millage rate of 3.780 and a 94% collection rate, real and personal property tax 

revenue for 2023 should be approximately $8,800,000. We estimated property tax revenue 
to be $8,340,000 in the 2023 budget; therefore, the rollback rate will generate enough 

revenue to cover the budget in 2023.  On December 31, 2022 the City had $32,583,351 in 

unassigned fund balance in the general fund.  The amount represents approximately 11.5 

months of general fund operating expenditures. 

My recommendation is to roll back the millage rate to 3.780. 

If you have any questions about this information or if you would like to discuss adopting a 

millage rate other than the rollback rate, please let me know. 

 

Page 280 of 294

http://www.pooler-ga.gov/


COMPUTATION OF MILLAGE RATE ROLLBACK AND PERCENTAGE INCREASE IN PROPERTY TAXES FOR YEAR 2023

COUNTY Chatham TAXING JURISDICTION Pooler

INFORMATION FOR THE SHADED PORTIONS OF THIS SECTION MUST BE ENTERED 
This information will be the actual values and millage rates certified to the Department of Revenue for the applicable tax years.

DESCRIPTION 2022 DIGEST REASSESSMENT OF OTHER CHANGES 2023 DIGEST
EXISTING REAL PROP TO TAXABLE DIGEST

 REAL 1,753,306,826 355,677,495 91,866,064 2,200,850,385

 PERSONAL 591,567,490 -71,952,350 519,615,140

 MOTOR VEHICLES 6,737,070 724,650 7,461,720

 MOBILE HOMES 4,455,704 420,782 4,876,486

 TIMBER -100% 190,000 0 190,000

 HEAVY DUTY EQUIP 2,683,271 780,096 3,463,367

 GROSS DIGEST 2,358,940,361 355,677,495 21,839,242 2,736,457,098

 EXEMPTIONS 167,127,380 73,025,505 3,241,464 243,394,349

 NET DIGEST 2,191,812,981 282,651,990 18,597,778 2,493,062,749

(PYD) (RVA) (NAG) (CYD)
             2022 MILLAGE RATE >>> 4.263                             2023 PROPOSED MILLAGE RATE >>> 4.263

THIS SECTION WILL CALCULATE AUTOMATICALLY UPON ENTRY OF INFORMATION ABOVE
DESCRIPTION ABBREVIATION AMOUNT FORMULA

2022 Net Digest PYD 2,191,812,981

Net Value Added-Reassessment of Existing Real Property RVA 282,651,990

Other Net Changes to Taxable Digest NAG 18,597,778

2023 Net Digest CYD 2,493,062,749 (PYD+RVA+NAG)

2022 Millage Rate PYM 4.263

Millage Equivalent of Reassessed Value Added ME 0.483 (RVA/CYD) * PYM

Rollback Millage Rate for 2023 RR 3.780 PYM - ME

COMPUTATION OF PERCENTAGE INCREASE IN PROPERTY TAXES
If the 2023 Proposed Millage Rate for this Taxing Jurisdiction exceeds the Rollback Millage Rate     Rollback Millage Rate 3.780

computed above, this section will automatically calculate the amount of increase in property     2023 Millage Rate 4.263

taxes that is part of the notice required in O.C.G.A. Section 48-5-32.1(c) (2)     Percentage Increase 12.78%

Page 281 of 294



2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Real & Personal 1,400,209,770         1,501,832,500         1,669,252,592         1,722,654,090         2,344,874,316         2,720,465,525         

Motor Vehicles 13,403,520               10,934,240               9,551,720                 7,662,850                 6,737,070                 7,461,720                 

Mobile Homes 4,168,149                 4,336,858                 3,702,212                 3,725,166                 4,455,704                 4,876,486                 

Timber - 100% -                                  14,846                       288,255                     -                                  190,000                     190,000                     

Heavy Duty Equipment 3,137,671                 2,762,316                 3,123,354                 3,330,751                 2,683,271                 3,463,367                 

Gross Digest 1,420,919,110         1,519,880,760         1,685,918,133         1,737,372,857         2,358,940,361         2,736,457,098         

Less M& O Exemptions 61,833,013               74,057,869               74,127,367               89,696,383               167,127,380             243,394,349             

Net M & O Digest 1,359,086,097         1,445,822,891         1,611,790,766         1,647,676,474         2,191,812,981         2,493,062,749         

State Forest Land Assistance 

Grant Value

Adjusted Net M&O Digest 1,359,086,097         1,445,822,891         1,611,790,766         1,647,676,474         2,191,812,981         2,493,062,749         

Gross M&O Millage 8.403                         8.583                         8.087                         9.077                         8.036                         7.909                         

Less Rollback (LOST) 4.604                         4.829                         4.436                         4.480                         3.773                         4.129                         

Net M&O Millage 3.799                         3.754                         3.651                         4.597                         4.263                         3.780                         

Total City Taxes Levied 5,163,168                 5,427,619                 5,884,648                 7,574,369                 9,343,699                 9,423,777                 

Net Taxes $ Increase 264,451                     457,029                     1,689,721                 1,769,330                 80,078                       

Net Taxes % Increase 5.12% 8.42% 28.71% 23.36% 0.86%

The City of Pooler does hereby announce that the 2023 millage rate will be set at a meeting to be held at City Hall on June 20, 

2023 at 4:00pm and pursuant to the requirements of O.C.G.A. Section 48-5-32 does hereby publish the following presentation of 

the current year's tax digest and levy, along with the history of the tax digest and levy for the past five years.

CURRENT 2023 TAX DIGEST AND 5 YEAR HISTORY OF LEVY

PUBLIC NOTICE

ProSystems Engagement/2023 Millage Rate/Current Tax Digest and Five Year History 5/22/2023 2:16 PM
Page 282 of 294



2023 City Council Meeting Schedule Amendment

City Staff presents for your consideration cancellation of the Monday, July 3, 2023 City Council 
Meeting to accommodate summer travel related to the Independence Day holiday on Tuesday, 
July 4, 2023.

If approved, the schedule for the remainder of 2023 will proceed as shown below:

MEETING TYPE DAY DATE PURPOSE
Council Meeting** No Meeting 7/3/2023 Holiday Tuesday
Council Meeting Monday 7/17/2023
Council Meeting Monday 8/7/2023
Council Meeting Monday 8/21/2023
Council Meeting** No Meeting 9/4/2023 Holiday Weekend
Council Meeting Monday 9/18/2023
Council Meeting Monday 10/2/2023
Council Meeting Monday 10/16/2023
Council Meeting Monday 11/6/2023
Council Meeting Monday 11/20/2023
Council Meeting Monday 12/4/2023
Council Meeting Monday 12/18/2023

*Tuesday Meeting
**No Meeting

Page 283 of 294



Page 1 of 5 

LOCATION AGREEMENT 
 

This agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into effective as of the _____ day of _________, 2023, 
by and between the CITY OF POOLER (“Licensor”), whose address is: 100 SW HIGHWAY 80, POOLER, 
GEORGIA 31322 and _______________________________________________________ (“Company”) 
whose address is: _________________________________________________________, in connection 
with the motion picture or project currently entitled: __________________________________________. 
 

W I T N E S S E T H: 
 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Councilmembers of City of Pooler invite and encourage film and 
production utilizing Licensor property, provided Licensor’s primary responsibility to provide service and 
protection to the general public is not impaired and provided Licensor is compensated for the time, labor, 
and other costs associated with permitting the utilization of Licensor property and facilities and provided 
Licensor is indemnified from any responsibility arising from any injury, accident, destruction of property 
during the period as hereinafter set forth; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Company is desirous of using certain property and facilities of Licensor for 
purposes related to the motion picture or project referenced above. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein, it is agreed as 

follows: 
 

1. Rights Granted: Licensor hereby grants to Company, its employees, agents, contractors and 
suppliers, and such other parties as it may authorize or designate, the right to enter and use the 
property located at ______________________________________________________________ 
(the “Property”) for the purpose of filming scenes of the Picture, which permission includes access 
to and from the Property, including the interiors and exteriors thereof, the right to bring and utilize 
thereon personnel, personal property, material and equipment, the right to photograph and make 
sound recordings on the Property, including the furniture, fixtures and other contents (and the right 
to rearrange same), the right to use any names, verbiage, address, trademarks, logos, signs and 
identifying features located on the Property, the right to refer to the Property or any part thereof by 
any fictitious name and/or to attribute any fictitious events as occurring thereon, and the right to 
otherwise do all things reasonably necessary to carry out the production of the Picture. 
 
Company shall not photograph or record Licensor officials, officers, employees or agents without 
first obtaining their individual written permission and Company shall not depict Licensor, its officials, 
officers, employees, agents and representatives in a manner as to portray foolishness, 
incompetence, evil, indifference, or dereliction of duty on their part without obtaining the written 
authorization of Licensor and the individuals concerned to do so. 
 

2. Results and Proceeds: Company shall be the exclusive author, owner and copyright proprietor of 
all the photography, sound recordings and filmed materials ( “Results and Proceeds”) relating to 
Company’s use of the Property, and Company may exploit, distribute and use all such Results and 
Proceeds in any manner, including, without limitation, in any films, programs, advertising, 
marketing, publicity, promotions or other materials, throughout the universe in perpetuity, in any 
and all media now known or hereafter devised. Licensor on its own behalf and on behalf of any 
person or entity having any interest in the Property or any materials located on the Property hereby 
waives any claims they may have in connection with the use of the Results and Proceeds by 
Company including, without limitation, claims relating to rights of privacy, rights of publicity, 
defamation, copyright infringement or trademark infringement. Company shall have the right to 
assign, transfer and/or grant all or any part of its rights in the Results and Proceeds to any person 
or entity. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed as obligating Company to actually 
use the Property or the Results and Proceeds in or in connection with the Picture or in any other 
manner whatsoever. 
 

Page 284 of 294



Page 2 of 5 

3. Term: Access to the Property is granted for __________ day(s), commencing on or about 
_____________________, 2023 and ending on or about ______________________, 2023 (the 
“Term”), which such Term shall consist of approximately _______ “prep” day(s), ________ “shoot” 
day(s), ________ “hold” day(s), and ________ “wrap” day(s) (as such terms are commonly 
understood in the motion picture industry), subject to change as required by Company. If Company 
needs to change the dates of the Term due to weather conditions, a force majeure event and/or a 
change in the production schedule, no additional payment shall be due Licensor, provided that 
there is no increase in the total number of days of the Term. If additional days are necessary before 
or after the dates of Term (which additional days need not be consecutive to the Term), Licensor 
agrees to make the Property available to Company at a mutually agreeable time (which shall not 
be delayed or unreasonably withheld) in return for additional payment at the same rate(s) set forth 
below. Company may at any time prior to commencement of the Term elect not to use the Property, 
in which case neither party shall have any further obligations hereunder and Licensor shall promptly 
return to Company all sums previously paid to Licensor hereunder, if any. 
 

4. Location Fee: In full consideration for use of the Property, Company will pay to Licensor the 
following daily rates for each such day that Company actually uses the Property during the Term, 
if and as applicable (collectively, the “Location Fee”):  

(i) _________________________ Dollars ($_____.__) for each “prep” day;  
(ii) _________________________ Dollars ($_____.__) for each “shoot” day; 
(iii) _________________________ Dollars ($_____.__) for each “hold” day; and 
(iv) _________________________ Dollars ($_____.__) for each “wrap” day.  

 
Licensor acknowledges and confirms that the Location Fee constitutes adequate and sufficient 
consideration for any inconvenience that may be caused by Company’s filming of a motion picture 
on and around the Property and surrounding area. 

 
5. Deposits: Company further agrees and covenants to pay a damage deposit of 

_________________________ Dollars ($_____.__), conditioned upon Company accomplishing 
the necessary clean-up of the Property and to compensate Licensor fully for any damage 
(reasonable wear and tear excepted) to the Property caused by Company, its agents servants, 
employees, representative, subcontractors, or anyone acting at Company’s direction, in the event 
Company fails or refuses to repair or replace the damaged item(s). Company further agrees and 
covenants to pay an additional per diem holdover deposit in the amount of 
_________________________ Dollars ($_____.__), conditioned on Company’s timely completion 
of the project. Company agrees and covenants that if the clean-up work is not completed or any 
damage (reasonable wear and tear excepted) is done to the Property, or if the project is not 
completed within the time, as much of the deposits as necessary to accomplish the clean-up or to 
compensate for such damage or compensate for such additional time shall be forfeited to Licensor; 
provided, however, that such deposit does not constitute a waiver of Licensor’s right to recover the 
cost of any clean-up and/or compensation for damages done to the Property or for such additional 
time exceeding the full amount of the deposit. In the event that some but not all of the deposits are 
applied to clean-up work or to compensate for damage, or for additional time taken for the project, 
the balance not applied shall be returned to the Company.  
 

6. Use and Repairs: Company shall obtain all required or necessary authorizations, permits, or 
certificates to under-take the filming or taping, including but not limited to business certificates and 
fire, police, or animal permits and shall comply fully with the terms of any such certificates or 
permit(s). Company shall comply with all applicable laws and regulations, including but not limited 
to any child employment laws. Licensor provides the Property “as is.” Licensor further states that 
to its reasonable knowledge the property has not been subjected to any environmental 
contaminations or remediations as defined under Federal, State, or local laws. 
 
Company shall comply with Licensor’s reasonable requests to move, alter or remove any 
equipment or facilities if Licensor reasonably believes they are interfering with its ability to provide 
public service(s) or otherwise conduct its business. Company agrees and covenants to coordinate 

Page 285 of 294



Page 3 of 5 

fully the use of the Property with Licensor or its designee and to cooperate with Licensor or its 
designee so that any unavoidable disruption of the normal functioning of the Property shall be 
minimized. Company agrees and covenants not to film or tape, go on, or use any other property or 
facilities of Licensor without first obtaining written permission to do so. Company acknowledges 
responsibility for obtaining all necessary approvals for the use of any private property and Licensor 
will not assume any responsibility for procuring and arrangements for the same. 
 
Company further agrees and covenants to take all necessary precautions to avoid causing damage 
(reasonable wear and tear excepted) to structures, buildings, equipment, grounds, wildlife and 
plants on the Property. Company agrees and covenants to remove all its equipment and facilities 
from the Property by the end of the stated term of this Agreement, unless extended, and shall leave 
the Property in as good condition as when received, reasonable wear and tear excepted. Company 
agrees to leave the Property in as good order as when received by Company, reasonable wear 
and tear excepted. Licensor and Company agree to jointly inspect the Property prior to and 
following Company’s use, specifying in writing all existing damage, if any. Licensor agrees to submit 
in writing within five (5) days of Company vacating the Property a detailed list of all property damage 
for which Licensor claims Company is responsible and shall permit Company’s representatives to 
inspect such damage. Provided that Company timely receives a written list of claimed damage and 
is afforded an opportunity to inspect same, Company shall repair any actual and verifiable damage 
to the Property directly caused by Company’s use thereof (or shall arrange for the repairs to be 
made by contractors selected by Company), provided, however, that Company shall not be 
obligated to repair any damage to the Property caused by or contributed to by Licensor. 
 

7. Licensor Representations and Warranties: Licensor represents and warrants that Licensor is 
the owner (or the authorized agent of the owner) of the Property and has the full right and authority 
to enter into this Agreement, and that the consent of no other party is necessary to effectuate the 
full and complete permissions and grant of rights made by Licensor herein. Additionally, Licensor 
represents and warrants that the Property is in good working condition and has been properly 
maintained in accordance with all applicable laws and ordinances and all safety and other 
regulations. 
 

8. Company Indemnity / Insurance: Company agrees to indemnify and otherwise hold Licensor 
harmless from and against any and all damage to the Property directly caused by Company’s use 
of the Property, except for such claims, demands, expenses or liabilities arising out of or related to 
Licensor’s negligence or willful misconduct, any hidden or latent defect on the Property, and/or any 
breach of Licensor’s representations, warranties and/or agreements hereunder. Company agrees 
that Licensor shall be named as a certificate holder on Company’s Commercial General Liability 
Insurance, which Company represents has limits of liability of not less than $1,000,000.00 per 
occurrence, with respect to claims that arise out of Company’s negligence or willful misconduct, 
and shall provide Licensor a Certificate of Insurance for such policy upon execution of this 
Agreement. 
 

9. Remedies: Licensor’s sole remedy for a breach of this Agreement by Company shall be limited to 
an action at law for money damages, if any. Provided that in the event of a major emergency to the 
public in terms of public health and/or safety (such determination to be made by Licensor in its sole 
discretion; provided such determination shall not be made to intentionally frustrate the purpose of 
this Agreement), Company hereby permits Licensor to take control of the Property during the Term 
for only the period of time which is necessary to resolve such emergency. Licensor shall not have 
the right to seek to enjoin or restrain the production, distribution, exhibition or other exploitation of 
the Results and Proceeds, the Picture, or the advertising or publicity in connection therewith. 
 

10. APPLICABLE LAW: THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE CONSTRUED AND ENFORCED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF GEORGIA APPLICABLE TO 
AGREEMENTS OF THIS NATURE, AND LICENSOR HEREBY CONSENTS TO THE 
JURISDICTION OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF CHATHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA. 
 

Page 286 of 294



Page 4 of 5 

11. Complete Understanding: This Agreement contains the full and complete understanding between 
the parties and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings regarding the subject matter 
hereof and cannot be modified except by a writing signed by the parties. This Agreement may be 
signed in counterparts and transmitted via electronic mail and such electronic signature 
counterparts taken together shall constitute an original binding agreement. 
 

12. Severability / Waiver: It is understood and agreed between the parties hereto that if any condition 
or provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, such 
invalidity shall not affect the validity of any other such condition or provision. A failure to initiate 
action as to any breach of this Agreement shall not be deemed a waiver of any right of action. 
 

13. Authority to Contract: The undersigned each represent and warrant that they have the right, 
power and authority to enter into this Agreement and this Agreement shall be binding upon the 
parties and their respective successors, licensees and assigns, Licensor represents it owns the 
premises and is authorized to grant Company the limited license to enter and use the Property as 
set forth in this Agreement. 

 
14. No Gratuities: Company agrees and covenants not to enter into any other agreements, either 

orally, or in writing, with any Licensor employee with regards to the Property, except as authorized 
herein or as authorized in writing by Licensor. Company further agrees and covenants not to 
employ in any manner whatsoever, or give anything of value to any Licensor employee, other than 
fees specified herein, without the express written permission of the Licensor. Company, its 
successors, assigns and licensees, agrees and covenants that its officers, agents, servants and 
employees shall have no Civil service status, pension, insurance benefits or tenure of any kind as 
an officer or employee of Licensor and shall not be employees of Licensor. 
 

15. Confidentiality: Licensor may have access and become acquainted with sensitive information 
concerning Company and its operation, including, without limitation, proprietary documents and 
records pertaining to Company and the Picture. Licensor and Licensor’s personnel shall keep 
confidential all such information which Company makes available to it. Licensor shall have a 
continuing duty, which shall survive the termination of this Agreement, to not disclose such sensitive 
information to any person or entity in any manner, except as authorized by Company or required 
by law. Licensor agrees that Licensor shall use good faith efforts to (i) obtain from essential 
personnel a signed Confidentiality and Non- Disclosure Agreement and (ii) provide a copy of the 
same to Company upon Company’s request subject to any requirements under the laws of Georgia 
including without limitation public records laws. Upon termination or expiration of this Agreement, 
Licensor will return to Company all written, photographic and/or audio- visual materials with such 
sensitive information to Company that are in Licensor’s possession. if such sensitive information 
made available to Licensor is lost or stolen, Licensor shall notify Company within twenty-four (24) 
hours from such occurrence and shall make good faith efforts to recover such information. Licensor 
further agrees that Licensor will not disclose the terms of this Agreement to any person without the 
prior written consent of Company and shall at all times preserve the confidential nature of Licensor’s 
relationship to the Company and of the services hereunder (excluding any required disclosures to 
be made under the laws of Georgia including without limitation public records laws). Further, 
Licensor and/or Licensor’s employees, subcontractors, and representatives shall not use any 
name, logo, trademark or other proprietary mark of Company and/or their respective parents, 
subsidiaries, affiliates, licensees, sub licensees and/or assignees in any manner without 
Company’s prior written approval. Licensor, its employees, subcontractors and representatives, 
agree not to give any interviews, authorize any publicity, or release any photos or other information 
relating to Licensor’s services, the Picture, Company or Company’s successors, assigns, licensees 
and other affiliated companies (including, without limitation, the licensees of the Picture), or any 
Picture’s personnel, including, without limitation, the cast, without Company’s express prior written 
permission. For the avoidance of doubt, Licensor’s confidentiality obligations and publicity 
restrictions hereunder shall apply to any and all media whatsoever, including, without limitation, 
any social networking site; micro-blogging service; user-generated or user-uploaded content 
website; online forum, discussion thread or comment section; personal website or blog; user 

Page 287 of 294



Page 5 of 5 

modified website; or any other website, service, platform, program, application or other form or 
method of communication, whether now known or hereafter devised. For example and for the sake 
of clarity, Licensor may not make disclosures nor cause disclosures to be made by any Licensor 
personnel or third parties that are prohibited hereunder via Facebook, Twitter, YouTube or any 
other similar website or service, whether existing now or in the future. 
 
 

AGREED AND ACCEPTED:  
 
COMPANY:   LICENSOR: 
      
Sign:   Sign:   

      
Print:   Print:   

      
Title:   Title:   

      
 
 

Page 288 of 294



Page 289 of 294



Page 290 of 294



Page 291 of 294

fcharleton
Sticky Note
Annual renewal on July 1st each year with BOC approval



Page 292 of 294



Page 293 of 294



Amendment No. _2_to the
Inmate Labor Agreement
Executed May 16th, 2017

between
Board of Commissioners of Effingham County

and
The City of Pooler, Georgia

THIS AMENDMENT NO.  __2__ (the "Amendment") is entered into this ____ day of _____________ , 2023 by and
between the County of Effingham (“COUNTY”) with offices at 804 S Laurel Street, Springfield, GA 31329 and The
City of Pooler, Georgia (“CITY OF POOLER”) with offices at 100 US-80, Pooler, GA. 31322.

WHEREAS, THE COUNTY and the CITY OF POOLER entered into an Agreement dated May 16, 2017 for Inmate
Labor (as amended, the “Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the provisions of the Agreement; and

NOW, THERFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual promises in the Agreement, and for other good 
and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as set 
forth below.  

1. Term:  This  Amendment  allows  for  the  Contract  to  renew for  one  (1)  additional  year  commencing  upon
completion of the current term, July 1, 2023 and ending on June 30, 2024.

2. Fee:  This Amendment allows for an increase of five thousand dollars ($5,000), bringing the agreement total to
eighty-five thousand dollars ($85,000) for FY24. 

3. Except as specifically set forth herein, all other terms and provisions of the Agreement shall remain unaffected
by this Amendment and continue in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment No. __2___ to be signed by their duly
authorized representatives the day and year first written above.

      The City of Pooler, Georgia                    Effingham County Board of Commissioners

By: __________________________________ By: __________________________________

      Printed Name: _________________________       Printed Name: Wesley Corbitt____________

Title: ________________________________ Title: Chairman_________________________

Dated: _______________________________ Dated:_______________________________

Page 294 of 294


	I. ROLL CALL/DECLARATION OF QUORUM
	II. CALL TO ORDER
	III. INVOCATION
	IV. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	V. ANNOUNCEMENTS
	VI. CONSENT AGENDA
	A. City Council Meeting Minutes of June 5, 2023
	6A_City Council Meeting_2023-06-05_Minutes_draft

	B. City Council Executive Session Minutes of June 5, 
	6B_City Council Meeting_2023-06-05_Executive Session Affidavit_executed

	C. Special Event Permit Application for Raymond Eric 
	6C_Special Event Permit Application for Raymond Eric Powers on July 14, 2023 

	D. Special Event Permit Application for Sara Alread a
	6D_Special Event Permit Application for Sara Alread from July 14-24, 2023 

	E. Special Event Permit Application for Southeast Spa
	6E_Special Event Permit Application for Southeast Spas from August 18-20, 2023 

	F. Department Reports
	1. Public Works
	6F1_Public Works

	2. Finance
	6F2_Finance

	3. Fire-Rescue
	6F3_Fire

	4. Police
	6F4_Police

	5. Recreation
	6F5_Parks

	6. Planning & Zoning
	6F6_P&Z



	VII. ORDINANCES, PROCLAMATIONS, RESOLUTIONS
	A. Ordinance O2023-05.D - Amendment to The City of Po
	8A_Ordinance O2023-05.D - Amendment to The City of Pooler Code of Ordinances Chapter 82- Traffic 

	B. Ordinance O2023-05.E - Amendment to The City of Po
	8B_ Ordinance O2023-05.E - Amendment to The City of Pooler Code of Ordinances Appendix A - Zoning


	VIII. OLD BUSINESS
	A. Major Subdivision for The Farm at Morgan Lakes (Re
	8A_Major Subdivision for The Farm at Morgan Lakes (Reapproval)


	IX. NEW BUSINESS
	A. Site Plan for Barrow Drive Trailer Parking Extensi
	9A_Site Plan for Barrow Drive Trailer Parking Extension

	B. Site Plan for Tract W - Harmony Amenity Site
	9B_Site Plan for Tract W - Harmony Amenity Site

	C. Site Plan for 2101 Travis Field Road Truck Yard Im
	9C_Site Plan for 2101 Travis Field Road Truck Yard Improvements (Dean Forest Road)

	D. Site Plan for Towne Place Pooler Hotel
	9D_Site Plan for Towne Place Pooler Hotel

	E. Acceptance of Maintenance Bond, Sidewalk Performan
	9E_Acceptance of Maintenance Bond, Sidewalk Performance Bond, and Final Plat for Ellis Park, Phas

	F. Acceptance of Maintenance Bond, Sidewalk Performan
	9F_Acceptance of Maintenance Bond, Sidewalk Performance Bond, and Final Plat for Telfair Park, Ph

	G. Release of Warranty Bond for Westbrook Villas, Pha
	9G_Release of Warranty Bond for Westbrook Villas, Phase 3A

	H. Release of Performance Bond, Acceptance of Mainten
	9H_Release of Performance Bond Westbrook K1

	I. Release of Performance Bond, Acceptance of Mainten
	9I_Release of Performance Bond Westbrook K2

	J. Release of Performance Bond, Acceptance of Mainten
	9J_Release of Performance Bond Westbrook K3

	K. Adoption of the Proposed 2023 Millage Rate
	9K_Adoption of the Proposed 2023 Millage Rate

	L. 2023 City Council Meeting Schedule Amendment
	9L_2023 City Council Meeting Schedule Amendment

	M. Location Agreement with Kiki Tree Pictures, Inc
	9M_Location Agreement with Kiki Tree Pictures, Inc

	N. Amendment Number 2 to the 2017 Inmate Labor Agreem
	9N_Amendment Number 2 to the 2017 Inmate Labor Agreement Between the Board of Commissioners of Effin


	X. EXECUTIVE SESSION
	XI. ADJOURNMENT



